# **Solar Radiation Modification (SRM)**

Concepts, Risks and Governance of intervention in the global climate system through solar geoengineering

Umwelt 🎧 Bundesamt

German Environment Agency

### Imprint

#### **Publisher:**

German Environment Agency Postfach 14 06 06813 Dessau-Roßlau Tel: +49 340-2103-0 bürgerservice@uba.de Internet: www.umweltbundesamt.de

Authors: Leonie Bronkalla and Dana Ruddigkeit

#### Additional contributors:

Juliane Berger, Ulrike Döring, Harald Ginzky, Carmen Gottwald, Daniel de Graaf, Hans-Joachim Hermann, Kay Köhler, Wera Leujak, Niklas Roming, Nadja Salzborn, Johanna Siebenlist, Jens Tambke, Herwig Unnerstall, Mathias Ulrich

#### Editors:

Section V 1.1 International Climate Action Leonie Bronkalla Section I 1.3 Environmental Law Dana Ruddigkeit

**Typesetting and Layout:** Atelier Hauer + Dörfler GmbH

**Publication as pdf:** www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen

#### Download poster (page 33):

https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/poster-risks-of-solar-radiation-modification-srm

#### Photo credits:

Title: merydolla (Iryna Denysova)/AdobeStock p. 11: Dana Ruddigkeit Illustrations: German Environment Agency

The text of this publication is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution - ShareAlike license Conditions 4.0 International (CC BY-SA 4.0) license. Unless otherwise indicated, all photos and logos are are excluded from the above CC license.



Publication date: March 2025

The Publication is based on Information available until November 2024

ISSN 1862-4359

# **Solar Radiation Modification (SRM)**

Concepts, Risks and Governance of intervention in the global climate system through solar geoengineering

### Contents

	Abbreviations
	Solar Radiation Modification is not Climate Action7
1	The Term Geoengineering
2	Rapid Developments in Politics and Science
3	The Theory Behind the Idea of SRM as a Solution for Climate Change133.1 Earth's Radiation Budget and the Greenhouse Effect133.2 The Albedo133.3 Modification of the Radiation Budget14
4	The Effects of SRM on the Global Climate15
5	Narratives and Justifications for SRM16
6	SRM Approaches176.1 Planetary Sunshade and Other Space-Based Megastructures186.2 Stratospheric Aerosol Injection206.3 Cirrus Cloud Thinning226.4 Marine Cloud Brightening236.5 Increasing the Surface Albedo26
7	SRM Research297.1 Uncertainties of SRM models297.2 Laboratory and Field Experiments317.3 Does Research lead to Deployment?32

	SRM Harbours Many Risks	34
	8.1 Risks to water availability and food security	34
	8.2 Risks of international political conflicts	34
	8.3 Risk of mitigation deterrence and for climate adaptation	35
	8.5 Risk of one-sided and non-transparent funding	36
	8.6 Risky cost calculations	37
	8.7 Risks for environmental and marine protection	37
	An International Regime for the Comprehensive Governance of SRM?	38
9	9.1 The concept of SRM and geoengineering in international law	39

An International Regime for the Comprehensive Governance of SRM? .	
9.1 The concept of SRM and geoengineering in international law	39
9.2 Biodiversity Convention and the de facto geoengineering moratorium	39
9.3 ENMOD as a treaty for the fundamental regulation of SRM?	42
9.4 Climate law	42



<b>Rules</b> t	that limit Individual SRM Approaches	43
10.1	Rules that limit SAI activities	43
10.2	Regulations for marine geoengineering	45
10.3	Legal Situation in Outer Space	46
10.4	Further restricting regulations.	46
10.5	Interim conclusion	46



Recom	mendations for the Governance and Regulation of SRM	<b>i</b> 7
11.1	Advancing an international non-use agreement	17
11.2	Research regulation requires a ban on use	ŀ7
11.3	Currently national regulations for SAI field experiments are not necessary	8
11.4	Ensuring responsible funding and governance for desk research	19

References	 	 	 	 	 •••	•••	 	 	 	 	•••	•••	 	•••	 	 •••	 	 •••	•••	•••	 	 •••	•••	 5	0

List of international treaties	6	0
--------------------------------	---	---

### Abbreviations

Convention on Biological Diversity, Biodiversitätskonvention
Cirrus Cloud Thinning
Carbon Dioxide Removal
Coupled Model Intercomparison Project
Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project
International Law Materials
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
London Convention and London Protocol
Marine Cloud Brightening
Montreal Protocol
Stratospheric Aerosol Injection
Stratospheric Controlled Perturbation Experiment
Sulfur dioxide
Solar Radiation Modification / Solar Radiation Management
Shared Socioeconomic Pathways
Greenhouse gas
United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
United Nations Environment Program
United Nations Environment Assembly
World Meteorological Organization

### **Figures**

Figure 1	
Geoengineering and synonyms in publications	9
Figure 2	
Publications on SRM	12
Figure 3	
Examples of albedo values for different landscapes	13
Figure 4	
Overview of the earth's radiation budget	14
Figure 5	
Schematized termination shock	15
Figure 6	
Risk vs. risk modeling scheme	30

### **Solar Radiation Modification is not Climate Action**

The use and technical deployment of Solar Radiation Modification (SRM) is to be rejected. SRM can neither preserve the current climate nor restore the preindustrial climate. Instead, it would create an unpredictable new global climate with significant regional impacts.

According to the state of scientific knowledge, sufficient certainty already exists regarding the dangers of SRM to food security, water availability, and the environment. If, after a global rollout, for whatever reason, a global deployment of SRM were to be stopped, it would result in a sharp temperature rise with catastrophic consequences. SRM has the potential to provoke conflicts worldwide and exacerbate injustices.

Based on current knowledge, SRM cannot therefore be considered a future emergency option. It is neither quickly deployable nor cost-effective. It is also not suitable as a transitional technology while reducing emissions and developing technologies for carbon di-oxide removal (CDR).

Beyond the existing governance structures, an international non-use agreement should be aimed for. Based on a prohibition of use, negotiations can take place regarding the regulation of specific and controlled small-scale research projects.

The distinction between research in the context of outdoor experiments and deployment is often blurred in the case of SRM, as it primarily involves the testing of technologies. Therefore, field experiments, whether by research institutions or private companies, must be prohibited in principle. Research using computer models and other theoretical studies can be useful, but must be conducted transparently and inclusively.

SRM research is not climate action research: a weakening of mitigation efforts must also be avoided in research funding. Therefore, a shift of research funds dedicated to the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and climate adaptation towards funding SRM research should be rejected.

Certificates for cooling effects through SRM, which are intended to compensate for greenhouse gas emissions, are misleading and divert attention from actual climate action and mitigation measures. They should therefore be rejected.

# The Term

### The Term Geoengineering

The idea of modifying landscapes and weather through technologies has existed since the 1950s (Oomen, 2021; Oldfield, 2013; Schellnhuber, 2011). In 1977, the term **geoengineering** – meaning large-scale interventions in the Earth's system - was specifically linked to climate change (Marchetti, 1977; Budyko, 1977) and continued to attract attention in the following decades (Caldeira et al., 2017). The idea gained further prominence through publications by Nobel laureate Paul Crutzen (Crutzen, 2006) and the Royal Society, whose widely accepted definition ultimately associated the term geoengineering with climate change (Royal Society, 2009). According to this definition, geoengineering includes deliberate, large-scale interventions in the climate system with the aim of mitigating anthropogenic global warming. Since the focus is on modifying the climate, the term climate engineering is also frequently used.

Over time, geoengineering has shifted from being a theoretical and philosophical expression of control and power to becoming a (still "technooptimistic") potential complementary response to climate change, alongside mitigation and adaptation (Oomen et al., 2021). While the expectations and political relevance of the debate have evolved, the proposed methods and contentious issues have largely remained the same over the past few decades. However, new, more euphemistic terms have emerged, such as climate intervention, climate remediation, or climate altering technologies (the corresponding German translations, such as Klima-Intervention or Klima-Sanierung, are not widely used, as the debate primarily takes place internationally). These terms are sometimes deliberately used to convey neutrality (Preston, 2013), yet they do not change the well-known fact: these approaches carry significant risks for people and the environment. Moreover, the hope for a seemingly simple technological solution - a "techno-fix" for climate change – distracts from the necessary climate action such as greenhouse gas reduction and adaptation, and reduces a societal task of required transformations to what appears to be a purely technical problem (Neuber et al., 2020).

The numerous geoengineering approaches can be divided into two categories. The first category involves approaches aimed at influencing the Earth's radiation budget, also referred to as solar geoengineering. The alternative term Solar Radiation Management was introduced at a NASA workshop in 2006, with the intent of diverting attention from the controversial discussion surrounding geoengineering (Caldeira et al., 2017). Hence, the less euphemistic and equally common term Solar Radiation Modification (SRM) is often used. Some SRM approaches are also found in literature under the topics of 'Ice Sheet Interventions' or 'Glacial Management', aimed at preventing sea-level rise. The second geoengineering category includes a variety of methods for removing carbon dioxide from the atmosphere which are summarized as Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR). In political contexts, CDR is often referred to as **negative emissions** or **sinks**.

#### Geoengineering and synonyms in publications

Number of search results in the title



Own research on www.scopus.com and https://openalex.org/. as at 15.10.2024

Due to common traits between SRM and most CDR aproaches as large-scale environmental intervetions, and the long-standing history of the geoengineering debate which is reflected in the large number of pulications using the term (see Fig. 1), it is important not to lose the context of the overarching term geoengneering. At the same time, the term "geoengineering" remains relevant, not least because key international decisions are based on this term (Section 9). In the media and public perception SRM continues to be associated with geoengineering while CDR is often discussed separately and detached from the umbrella term. This separation is sometimes used intentionally to enable more positive communication and public perception of CDR (<u>Müller-Hansen et al.,</u> <u>2023;Heyward, 2013</u>). SRM, on the other hand, is still more often perceived as "megalomania" and viewed negatively in public discourse (<u>Carlisle et al.,2020</u>).



### **Rapid Developments in Politics and Science**

Between 2006 and around 2013, geoengineering was a topic of particularly intense discussion. Important political decisions were made during this period, which remain highly significant today. In 2010, the United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) adopted a de facto moratorium on geoengineering (UBA, 2019), marking a major **political milestone**. Additionally, the parties to the London Protocol/London Convention (LP/LC) agreed in 2008 that commercial ocean fertilization should not be permitted and that field experiments must be assessed to ensure they have no adverse environmental impacts. Following this, the parties negotiated a legally binding regulatory framework for marine geoengineering, which was adopted in 2013. An international conference on geoengineering was held in 2010 (ASOC, 2010a; ASOC., 2010b). During this period, reports on geoengineering increased in both online and print media (Mercer et al., 2011) This initial phase also prompted the German Environment Agency to take a position on geoengineering and inform the public (UBA, 2011).

After this period, the debate around geoengineering temporarily calmed, but it resurfaced in recent years, driven by the increasingly drastic impacts of climate change, and has progressed as rapidly as global warming itself. A key factor in the renewed debate was the scientific recognition that limiting the temperature increase to 1.5°C is necessary to minimize the risk of harmful effects from climate change on people and the environment (IPCC, 2018). This goal was also enshrined in the 2015 Paris Agreement, where member states agreed to limit global warming to well below 2°C and to pursue efforts to cap it at 1.5°C. However, as global annual emissions continue to rise, albeit at a slower rate, rather than fall drastically, many people now view exceeding the 1.5°C limit as inevitable. This concern has led to the idea that, after surpassing the temperature target (referred to as "overshoot"), it may be possible to reverse it or even cool the planet back to pre-industrial levels. For this purpose, the necessity (and feasibility) of Carbon Dioxide Removal (CDR) as well as Solar Radiation Modification (SRM) is increasingly assumed as given. (Section 5). However, essential questions and challenges regarding climate effectiveness, sustainability

criteria, scalability, risks, political consequences and market mechanisms remain unresolved, and despite significant research, they mostly reflect the state of knowledge from 2011. SRM in particular covers for the most part merely theoretical approaches that are by no means ready for deployment.

The debate has not only intensified but also evolved in terms of terminology, with a growing distinction between CDR and SRM. CDR is increasingly being discussed separately from geoengineering. Due to the differing political significance of SRM and CDR, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has ceased using the term geoengineering since its sixth assessment cycle and now addresses the two categories separately (IPCC, 2018; IPCC 2023).

In political discourse, SRM and CDR are also increasingly treated as distinct topics. CDR has already been integrated into the political strategies of several countries, including Germany (Smith et al., 2024; BMWK, 2024; EU Council, 2024), while the global deployment of SRM is currently not being considered. Germany and the EU explicitly argue against the use of SRM. The German federal government has positioned itself against SRM in its climate foreign policy strategy "due the existing uncertainties, implications, and risks", reaffirming the CBD's de facto moratorium and distancing itself from research aimed at developing and potentially deploying SRM technologies on a large-scale (German Federal Government, 2023). The European Commission reinforced the validity of the CBD's de facto moratorium in a report on climate and security, emphasizing the enormous risks associated with SRM (EU Commission, 2023). The European Parliament, in a resolution, urged the European Commission and member states to initiate an international agreement prohibiting the use of SRM. (EU Parliament, 2023). The African Ministerial Conference on the Environment also passed a resolution calling for an international agreement to ban SRM (AMCEN, 2023).

At the **United Nations (UN)** level, few legally binding regulations currently exist, but the distinction between SRM and CDR is also becoming evident. Acording to Article 4(1) of the Paris Agreement, climate targets are to be achieved through sinks, which can be understood as natural or artificial systems that absorb and store CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere (Paris Agreement, 2015). Increasingly, discussions about negative emissions are taking place at UNFCCC climate negotiations, without directly linking them to geoengineering. Following a draft resolution on geoengineering at the fourth United Nations Environment Assembly (UNEA-4) (Schwitzerland, 2019), a draft resolution specifically on SRM was proposed at UNEA-6 (UNEA, 2024; ENB, 2024), though this second draft was also rejected despite the distinction between terms. Besides these UN negotiations, numerous political reports and governance processes address either geoengineering as a whole or focus exclusively on CDR (Section 8).



Negotiations on SRM at UNEA6 in Nairobi

Non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and other institutions have also taken positions against SRM in recent years (for example, CAN, 2019). National organizations such as the German Federation for the Environment and Nature Conservation (BUND, 2023) and the Heinrich Böll Foundation (HBS, 2018a; HBS, 2018b) have also published position papers. Researchers from various countries, including German Environment Agency President Dirk Messner, launched an initiative calling for an agreement on the non-use of SRM (https://www.solargeoeng.org/; Biermann et al. 2022). Concurrently, numerous other initiatives and think tanks were established, and open letters were written pushing SRM on the agenda. To mention for example "Carnegie Climate Governance Initiative" (C2G, https:// c2g2.net/), "The Alliance for Just Delibaration on Solar Geoengineering" (DSG, https://sgdeliberation. org/) including a youth network "Climate Intervention Network" (CIN, https://sgdeliberation.org/activities/youth-engagement-program/climate-intervention-network/), "The Degrees Initiative" (https:// www.degrees.ngo/), "SRM Youth Watch (https:// www.srmyouthwatch.org/), "Call for Balance" (https://www.call-for-balance.com/) and "International Center for Future Generations (ICGF, https:// icfg.eu/climate-interventions/).

The increasing attention SRM has garnered within the **scientific community** is reflected in the growing number of scientific studies from various disciplines that explicitly address SRM and its individual approaches (see Figure 2). In addition, there are a growing number of private and statefunded research projects investigating SRM (UBA, 2024). The Geoengineering Monitor by the ETC Group and the Böll Foundation provides an up-to-date overview of the numerous global projects: https://map.geoengineeringmonitor.org/. In Germany, there was a project on the risks of SRM by the German Environment Agency (UBA 2024; UBA, 2023), and previously one by the German Research Foundation (DFG, 2019). The EU funded an assessment study called EuTRACE until 2015 (Schäfer et al., 2015). Currently, two EU Horizon-funded projects dealing with SRM are ongoing, with the acronyms GENIE (https://genie. ece.iiasa.ac.at/) and Co-Create (https://co-create-project.eu/). Internationally, notable projects include the "Lighthouse Activity" of the WCRP on geoengineering (https://www.wcrp-climate.org/ci-overview) and the Geoengineering Model Intercomparison

Project (GeoMIP) (<u>https://climate.envsci.rutgers.</u> <u>edu/GeoMIP/</u>). GeoMIP holds regular conferences (<u>GeoMIP, 2024; GRC, 2024; GRC, 2022; GRC, 2017</u>). The program of the 28th General Assembly of the International Union for Geodesy and Geophysics (IUGG) in 2023 included several presentations on SRM and weather modification. Following this, the IUGG published a resolution affirming that SRM is neither a complement nor a substitute for greenhouse gas (GHG) mitigation (<u>IUGG, 2023</u>). Presentations on SRM were also given at conferences of the European Geosciences Union (EGU, <u>https://www.egu24.eu/</u>) and the American Geophysical Union (AGU, <u>https://</u> <u>www.agu.org/annual-meeting</u>).

In 2023, **three institutional reports** generated significant media and public attention. The first was a report on SRM titled "One Atmosphere" (UNEP, 2023), written by 12 external authors and commissioned by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) without an explicit state mandate or involvement. Shortly after, a no less controversial report by the U.S. government followed, which described only a theoretical plan for SRM research and governance and explicitly stated that it would not alter climate policy (Whitehouse, 2023), but it was widely portrayed in the media as a concrete research program. Finally, reports commissioned by the World Commission on the Ethics of Scientific Knowledge and Technology (COMEST) and by the United Nations Human Rights Council (UNHRC) were released (COMEST, 2023; UNGA 2023). While COMEST deals with the theoretical potential of SRM and its development and regulation, the UNHRC report underlines the risk SRM poses to the protection of human rights, and demands prohibiting its use.

#### Figure 2

#### **Publications on SRM**

Number of search results for synonyms for SRM\* in title, abstract and key words



\*"solar radiation modification" OR "solar radiation management" OR "solar geoengineering" OR "solar climate intervention" OR "stratospheric aerosol injection" OR "planetary sunshade" OR "marine cloud brightening" OR "cirrus cloud thinning"

Own research on www.scopus.com und https://openalex.org/. as at 15.10.2024.

#### The Theory Behind the Idea of SRM as a Solution for Climate Change

#### 3.1 Earth's Radiation Budget and the **Greenhouse Effect**

Sunlight reaches the Earth's atmosphere as shortwave radiation. About one-third of this radiation is reflected back into space. However, most of the shortwave solar radiation reaches the Earth's surface and is absorbed. This absorbed radiation heats the Earth's surface, which then emits longwave thermal radiation (infrared radiation) back into the atmosphere. A small fraction of this thermal radiation escapes the atmosphere through the so-called atmospheric window directly into space. However, the majority is absorbed by greenhouse gases (GHGs), such as water vapor, carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$ , methane, ozone, and nitrous oxide. The GHG molecules then re-emit the heat in all directions, including back toward the Earth's surface. This process leads to the warming of the lower layers of the atmosphere compared to an atmosphere without GHGs, similar to the effect of a blanket. This process is known as the greenhouse effect (see Lesch et. al, 2021).

Since the Industrial Revolution, human economic and lifestyle activities have continuously increased the amount of GHG emissions released into the atmosphere. The resulting higher concentration of GHGs ensures that more heat energy remains in the system, causing the atmosphere to warm further. This human-enhanced greenhouse effect is driving anthropogenic (human-caused) climate change (Rahmstorf et al., 2019). Der Zusammenhang zwischen insgesamt The relationship between the total amount of CO<sub>2</sub> emitted by humans and the resulting warming is roughly linear, meaning it is proportional (IPCC, 2021).

There are four particularly important radiation components: incoming and outgoing shortwave solar radiation, and upward and downward longwave thermal radiation. These four components can be calculated together to obtain a simplified radiation budget for the Earth, also known as the Earth's radiation balance (Foken, 2016). In more detail, the radiation balance can be calculated using highly precise physical models.

#### 3.2 The Albedo

Albedo ("whiteness") refers to the reflectivity of an object's surface or a landscape. In the case of planets like Earth, it is determined by the ratio of reflected solar radiation to incoming shortwave solar radiation. Thus, albedo is a number between 0 and 1. An albedo of 0.9 means that 90% of the sunlight or light is reflected. Such values are typical for snow, and clouds can also have such high values. Asphalt, on the other hand, has a low albedo of 0.1, meaning that most of the sunlight is absorbed, causing the surface to heat up much more than other surfaces. The values for forests and oceans fall somewhere in between (Foken, 2016).



#### Figure 3

#### Examples of albedo values for different landscapes

Source: German Environment Agency

#### 3.3 Modification of the Radiation Budget

In most cases, SRM aims to increase the Earth's albedo. This can occur in the atmosphere, in clouds, or at the Earth's surface (Section 6). In the case of space reflectors, the solar radiation reaching the Earth is reduced from the outset. Depending on the approach, sunlight (or specific wavelength ranges) is either directly reflected or scattered, reaching the Earth's surface as diffuse radiation (Baur et al., 2023a). One speculative approach aims to allow more thermal radiation to escape the atmosphere (Section 6.3 on Cirrus Cloud Thinning, CCT). However, many publications (as well as the statements in this brochure) primarily refer to SRM approaches that reduce incoming solar radiation, particularly stratospheric aerosol injection (Section 6.2 on SAI). SRM (except for CCT) can logically only function on the Earth's daytime side, whereas greenhouse gases (GHGs) are distributed throughout the atmosphere and contribute to global warming, even at night (IPCC, 2014). As a result, SRM cannot cool the Earth uniformly and does not alter the greenhouse effect; it only affects the radiation balance (Section 4).

The idea that SRM could be used to combat global warming is largely based on observations of the global average temperature following major volcanic eruptions. For example, after the eruption of Mount Pinatubo in 1991, the Earth's surface cooled by approximately 0.5°C within a few years (IPCC, 2014). This cooling effect-caused by the shading from ash particles and sulphur compounds released into the atmosphere—is what SRM seeks to mimic. For volcanic eruptions, the location and altitude at which particles are released are crucial for the magnitude of the cooling effect. Therefore, the impact of SRM would depend on where and to what extent it is deployed, for instance, whether it would be used only in the Northern or Southern Hemisphere, over the poles, or near the equator (Bednarz et al., 2023). While the theoretical effects of SRM are often inferred from the relationship between volcanic eruptions and global temperature variations, a direct comparison is only possible to a limited extent. Thus, significant uncertainties remain regarding the exact effects of SRM (DFG; 2014).

#### Figure 4





Source: German Environment Agency



### The Effects of SRM on the Global Climate

That much is certain: SRM cannot restore preindustrial climate nor preserve the current one (<u>Kravitz et al., 2013; MacCracken, 2009</u>). By manipulating the Earth's radiation balance, the entire climate system would be fundamentally altered. Moreover, SRM only addresses global warming as a symptom of climate change, not its root cause, which is anthropogenic GHG emissions (<u>Quaas et al., 2017</u>).

This explains the greatest danger posed by SRM: the so-called **termination shock**. If SRM were to be abruptly halted, there would be a sharp rise in global temperatures, leading to sudden climate change within just a few years (Brovkin et al., 2008; Jones et al., 2013). Adapting to such a rapid temperature increase would be extremely difficult, if not impossible, for humans, animals, and plants (IPCC, 2014). This could result in a significant loss of biodiversity, potentially leading to mass extinctions (Trisos et al., 2018). The termination of SRM could be triggered by terrorist attacks, military conflicts, natural disasters, or collisions in space that destroy its infrastructure (Parker, 2018).

Thus, the masking of global warming through SRM would need to be maintained and adjusted until GHG emissions are eliminated. SRM would likely need to be sustained even beyond this point until atmospheric GHG concentrations are reduced to levels where the associated warming is minimal enough for humans and ecosystems to successfully adapt. Some of the emitted CO2 remains in the atmosphere for thousands of years, continuing to contribute to the greenhouse effect. At the time of potential SRM deployment, it would be unclear whether the necessary emission reduction would be realized and whether carbon dioxide removal (CDR) technologies would develop sufficiently to allow for the gradual phasing out of SRM. In any case, the continuous use of SRM would have to be ensured over multiple generations and centuries (Baur et al., 2023b; MacMartin et al., 2014).

It is also important to consider that SRM's desired effect would be based on the global average temperature, while different regions and climate zones might experience **overcooling or additional** 

Figure 5

Schematized termination shock



Source: German Environment Agency based on (IPCC, 2014)

warming. Cooling is generally projected for the tropics, while the polar regions would continue to warm. These temperature differences would, in turn, alter the global distribution and frequency of precipitation, particularly the monsoons (Baur et al., 2024; Roy, 2022; Irvine et al., 2019; Gabriel et al., 2017; Kravitz et al., 2013; Davies, 2011). This would lead to a weaker hydrological cycle, increased desertification, and negative impacts on human, animal, and plant communities. Global wind patterns, such as the jet stream, ocean currents, and the Intertropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ), would also shift as a result of SRM (Tilmes et al., 2013; MacCracken et al., 2013; Davies, 2011).

A central component in this effect chain is the temperature of the stratosphere. Particels deployed there would not only reflect radiation, but also absorb it, leading to stratospheric warming. This temperature increase of up to several degrees Celsius would also change the dynamics of the atmosphere. A warming of the tropical stratosphere could thus slow down the quasi-biennial oscillation or bring it to a complete halt (Laakso et al., 2022). This wind system influences the dynamics of hurricanes and also the Indian monsoon. 5

### **Narratives and Justifications for SRM**

Even among the strongest proponents of SRM, there is consensus that SRM should, due to its dangers and uncertainties, under no circumstances be deployed globally at present (cf. <u>Callies</u>, 2019).Nevertheless, some do not rule out its future use and even claim that its potential use may be inevitable (<u>COC</u>, 2023; <u>Mac-Martin et al.</u>, 2014). Two main justifications are often cited to support this position (<u>Parson et al.</u>, 2013).

The first justification assumes that the consequences of climate change could become so catastrophic that SRM, despite all the existing risks, would be used as a **desperate last-resort solution** to stop global warming. In such a scenario, the dangers of SRM could be seen as the lesser evil compared to the dangers of unchecked climate change. However, whether SRM could ever actually be considered an appropriate last-resort solution is questionable and is the subject of scientific studies (Neuber et al., 2020; Gardiner, 2013; Gardiner et al., 2010). It is debated not only for ethical reasons, but also due to the fact that the technical development of the infrastructure could take around two decades and likely would not be, as often claimed, available quickly and cheaply (Smith, 2024). Because SRM is therefore not well suited as a mere short-term emergency option, it is argued that its deployment should be prepared in advance.

The second justification is that a moderate and temporary use of SRM could buy time to moderately reduce greenhouse gas emissions, rather than enforcing the drastic reductions that are actually needed (buying time argument). This, on the one hand, could lower the costs of economic innovations and, on the other hand, reduce the pressure to adapt to the consequences of climate change. There are numerous simplified depictions of how the curve of global average temperature could be flattened using SRM (peak-shaving). The "peak shaving" assumes that rapid reductions in greenhouse gas emissions would still have to be carried out in parallel to SRM deployment so that SRM would become unnecessary as quickly as possible and would not need to be maintained for centuries, as previously described (Neuber et al., 2020). The need to reduce GHG

emissions would probably be neglected all the more (mitigation deterrence, Section 8.3) if SRM could actually be used as safely and flexibly without risks and conflicts, as is assumed for this idea.

Another, less common argument in favour of SRM is that the release of greenhouse gases, and thus climate change as a whole, is already a far riskier experiment undertaken by humanity. And therefore – so the argument goes – one could justify daring yet another experiment, namely SRM. However, from an ethical perspective, the distinction between intentional and unintentional actions is crucial, and climate change cannot be equated with the deployment of SRM (<u>Schäfer et al., 2015; Owen, 2014</u>). The argument also suggests that the "follow-up experiment" involves the same mechanisms as global warming. In reality, however, it interferes with new subsystems of the climate system (Section 3.1).

Against the backdrop of unpredictable climate changes and the incomparable interference with the environment (and possibly space) through SRM, the ethical question arises about humanity's role in nature. In this context, the accusation is examined that SRM has no justification at all and is instead an expression of human hubris (Owen, 2014).





# 6.1 Planetary Sunshade and Other Space-Based Megastructures

Gigantic space mirrors that prevent part of the sunlight from reaching Earth: What may sound like science fiction is, at least for some researchers, a serious option. The most well-known concept is the proposal of a **planetary sunshade** (or: **planetary** sunshield). This megastructure would need to be installed behind the so-called inner Lagrange point between the Sun and Earth (L1), as it could be held in a stable position there by the balanced gravitational forces of the Sun and Earth. At this point, the structure would be about 2.4 million kilometres away from Earth, approximately six times the distance from the Earth to the Moon. Due to this distance, a sunshield would no longer cast a direct core shadow on Earth but rather a diffuse partial shadow that would spread evenly over the entire globe. To create such a large shadow, the sunshield would need to be between one and two million square kilometres in size and ideally composed of many large solar sails (PSF, 2023).

In recent years, there have been several space missions where solar sails have been tested as fuel-free propulsion systems for satellites. A solar sail from NASA's 2022 "NEA Scout" mission measured 86 square meters (Locket et al., 2020). Recently, NASA successfully built a 1,700 square meter solar sail for the "Solar Cruiser" mission. This sail was intended to be placed at the L1 point and demonstrate that such an installation could be held in position for an extended period. The rocket launch was initially planned for 2025 but has been postponed to 2028 due to time and budget issues (Johnson et al., 2023). Although these solar sail tests are not directly related to SRM, the research results would be essential for further development of an SRM sunshade. For this reason, the Planetary Sunshade Foundation (PSF) urges the U.S. government to fully fund and carry out this mission (PSF, 2023).

The material used for solar sails, developed more than twenty years ago, consists of an extremely thin plastic film coated with aluminium. This reflective membrane could also be used for sails larger than 10,000 square meters (NASA, 2024) making it suitable for SRM purposes. A sunshield capable of lowering Earth's temperature by 1°C would require an estimated seventy to hundreds of millions of tons of material (PSF, 2023). Thousands of rocket launches over several decades would be necessary to transport these masses into space. Therefore, there are considerations to construct only the basic structure on Earth and transport it into space by rocket. The raw materials could be mined directly from the Moon or asteroids and processed in space, as rocket launches from the Moon would require less fuel (Scott et al., 2022; Bewick et al., 2011). However, even if materials were mined on the Moon, a significant number of rocket launches from Earth would still be needed, releasing substantial amounts of water vapor, potentially CO2, and nitrogen oxides, which would accelerate global warming and stratospheric ozone depletion (Roy, 2022).

To accelerate and reduce the cost of this industry, investments would be necessary in space logistics, such as refuelling stations and fuel production (<u>NSTC, 2022</u>). To reduce material costs and stabilize the position of the shield, a tether could be envisioned, with a counterweight on the Sun-facing side. If equipped with solar panels, the tether's length could be flexibly adjusted to accommodate specific situations, such as solar winds. Additionally, this tether would serve as a safety measure, ensuring that a malfunctioning sunshield would be pulled toward the Sun instead of crashing down to Earth, which could have disastrous consequences. However, such robust, long tethers do not yet exist (Szapudi, 2023). Since the construction of such a megastructure would take many decades, it is not a short-term measure against climate change. Instead, a sunshield could eventually replace temporary, non-permanent methods such as Stratospheric Aerosol Injection (SAI, Section 6.2). A sunshield is portrayed as a sustainable, permanent solution (PSF, 2023). At the same time, the structures are considered reversible, as they could simply be allowed to drift off into space, thus reversing the cooling effect (Baum et al, 2022). However, the sudden removal of a sunshield, whether intentional or accidental, would lead to a Termination Shock (Section 4) (PSF, 2023). Furthermore, it is both ethically and technically problematic to dispose of such a megastructure in space. Space debris is already a serious and rapidly growing problem (ESA, 2023).

The Planetary Sunshade Foundation places the further development of this method in the context of an arms race for space. It is promoting the project with the claim that the pioneering countries of lunar mining and space logistics could claim the entire economic advantage for themselves (<u>PSF, 2023</u>). This way of thinking promotes neo-colonialist structures and power imbalances, which would also be perpetuated and even exacerbated beyond Earth, because the financial advantage would lie not only with the industrialized countries, but also with individual space powers. Climate action appears to be merely a pretext here.

In addition to the solar shield, there are other proposals for space-based SRM, such as rings made of lunar or asteroid dust, glass shields, mirrors and other reflectors that would be installed both in low-Earth orbit and at other Lagrange points (Baum et al, 2022; Beweick et al, 2013). Dust clouds, for example, would be less costly to produce but difficult to regulate. Depending on the orbit in which they circle, they would only be positioned in front of the sun two times, but they would block much more radiation than desired. Installations close to earth harbour the risk of collision with satellites and space debris. In addition, their changing shadows would be clearly perceptible and would affect plant growth and life on Earth (Bewick et al., 2011). Some of the ideas are based on very few, individual observations. Once, for example, Venus briefly moved between the Sun and Earth, but too briefly to have a measurable temperature effect (PSF, 2023). And during the Little Ice Age a couple of centuries ago, reduced sunspot activity led to colder winters (Baum et al, 2022).

#### 6.2 Stratospheric Aerosol Injection

When SRM is discussed, it often refers to the injection of aerosols into the stratosphere, i.e. at an altitude of around 20 km, known as stratospheric aerosol injection (SAI) (<u>HBS, 2021a</u>). SAI is the most popular approach, as the desired cooling effect was derived from that of volcanic eruptions (Section 3.3). So far, research has been based in particular on these analogies and computer models (Section 7.1); field experiments have been stopped (Section 7.2).

Aerosols can have cooling or warming properties depending on their chemical composition and altitude. In SAI, chemicals that reflect more sunlight into space are released into the stratosphere, thereby increasing the planet's albedo. From the point of release, they would spread globally through worldwide wind systems, altering the climate system (Section 4) (Baur et al., 2024).

The best-understood substance is sulphur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>), which reacts with atmospheric water molecules to form sulphate aerosols. However, due to the well-known negative effects of sulphate aerosols, other substances like calcite, soot, titanium dioxide, zirconium dioxide, aluminium oxide, and diamond dust are being discussed and studied in laboratories (Vukajlovic, 2021; Smith, 2020). The effects of these artificially produced chemicals could be more controllable than SO<sub>2</sub> and sulfuric acid (Lawrence et al., 2018). However, like sulphate aerosols, they also carry the risk of warming the stratosphere by several degrees Celsius (Lawrence et al., 2018; Jones et al., 2016). Currently, most predictions still rely on the assumption of using sulphate aerosols (Brody et al., 2024).

In the case of sulphate aerosols, the resulting **depletion of the ozone layer** is well-researched. These aerosols interfere with the chemical processes that form ozone, thus reducing the concentration of stratospheric ozone (Drdla und Müller, 2012). Additionally, the absorption properties of sulphate aerosols lead to warming of the stratosphere, which alters atmospheric currents such as the Brewer-Dobson circulation and the quasi-biennial oscillation, disrupting the global distribution of ozone (<u>UBA,</u> <u>2016</u>). Changes in stratospheric chemistry also affect methane, nitrogen oxides, water vapor, and cloud dynamics (IPCC, 2018). The damage to the ozone layer, which protects against harmful UV radiation, and the resulting expansion of the ozone hole, particularly over Antarctica, poses a threat to the biosphere in general and human health specifically.

Another environmental and **health risk**, previously considered resolved, would be the return of acid rain if the sulphate aerosols are washed out of the atmosphere. Any additional acid deposition is a burden on ecosystems (Schäfer et al., 2015; Robock, 2008).

SAI would also result in less visible light reaching the Earth's surface than at present. This effect would be similar to "shadowing" and would make the sky appear permanently milky white, which would have a non-negligible impact on human mental health (<u>PSF, 2023; Robock, 2008</u>).

Aerosols only remain in the stratosphere for a few years or months. As they sink, the aerosols influence the composition of cirrus clouds and thus possibly have an unexpected additional cooling or warming effect (Section 6.3) (Robock, 2008; Kuebbeler et al., 2012).

Due to the only temporary effect, aerosols would have to be continuously produced and spread over centuries (Neuber et al., 2020). Balloons or rockets could also be considered, but above all **aeroplanes**. Normal commercial aircraft or jets cannot fly at an altitude of 20 kilometres and would not be suitable for SAI due to their shape. It would require hundreds of custom-built aircrafts (Smith, 2024; Smith et al., 2018). In addition, an infrastructure would be needed so that this fleet could continuously land, refuel and take off again. The design of SAI aircrafts is described in detail in studies (Bingaman et al., 2020; Janssens, 2020). To reduce global average temperatures by 1 °C, around 8 to 16 million tonnes of SO2 would have to be emitted annually (<u>WMO, 2022</u>). If aerial refuelling aircrafts were used for this purpose, a conservative estimate of around 137,000 **flights per year** would be necessary for 8 million tonnes of SO2. One study assumes that 4,000 flights will take place in the first year and 60,000 flights per year 15 years later (<u>Smith et al., 2018</u>). As there is currently no alternative to fossil fuel-based paraffin available in sufficient quantities, these flights would end up causing a lot of emissions and cancelling out the theoretical cooling effect of the aerosols emitted. In addition, the ozone layer would be damaged to the same extent as it was during the greatest expansion of the ozone hole in the mid-1990s (<u>WMO, 2022</u>). Additionally, the question arises about sourcing SO<sub>2</sub>, as natural deposits are limited. Artificial production is based on the **petroleum industry** (<u>Muraca et al., 2018;</u> <u>Brovkin et al., 2008</u>). The production of SO<sub>2</sub> itself would therefore cause greenhouse gas emissions, which would also have to be offset.



#### 6.3 Cirrus Cloud Thinning

Cirrus clouds (also called ice or feather clouds) are located higher than other types of clouds, usually in the upper troposphere, at altitudes of about 5 to 13 km. Due to the cold temperatures at these altitudes, they are composed of ice crystals rather than water droplets. The properties of cirrus clouds generally prevent long-wave heat radiation from escaping into space (Section 3.1), meaning they mostly have a warming effect. The SRM approach known as **Cirrus Cloud Thinning (CCT)** aims to thin cirrus clouds so that more heat radiation can escape into space, resulting in a cooling effect (<u>Tully et al., 2021</u>). Unlike other SRM methods that focus on altering solar radiation, this approach is sometimes classified under "Radiation Modification."

The idea behind CCT is to increase the formation of larger ice crystals instead of numerous smaller ones, as larger crystals would retain less heat radiation. To achieve this, additional particles, such as sulphate, aircraft soot, or mineral dust, would need to be released into the atmosphere to serve as condensation nuclei at those altitudes (<u>Tully et al., 2021</u>). Cirrus clouds, being located at 8-13 km altitude, are reachable by commercial airplanes. If the required amount of condensation nuclei is not too large, specialized planes for CCT may not be necessary. The amount of particles to be released is estimated to be only a few kilograms per flight (<u>DFG, Website</u>).



In science, there are still major uncertainties regarding the formation, dynamics and composition of clouds. Statements about the manipulation of clouds are therefore subject to even greater uncertainty. Research on CCT is currently mainly based on models (Section 7.1) which show similar effects to SRM in general with regard to CCT modification, for example a changed water cycle (<u>Tully et al., 2021; Storelvmo et al., 2013</u>). There are also laboratory experiments in so-called *cloud chambers* (Steinke et al., 2024).

It is difficult to predict when and where cirrus clouds will form, meaning that CCT is not suitable for continuous and global use (Caldeira et al., 2017). Implementation at the poles in particular is being discussed because the air there naturally contains fewer particles (Gruber et al., 2019). The polar regions are particularly vulnerable to climate change, and the melting ice in Antarctica and the Arctic reduces the albedo, further driving warming. During the polar night, the warming effect of cirrus clouds is especially pronounced, as the cooling effect of reflecting sunlight is absent (DFG, Website). However, it is important to note that the polar regions are part of the complex global climate system, and wind circulations and the water cycle ensure that the effects of CCT would also be felt outside the poles. If the particles enter cloud-free, highly humid air masses, additional cirrus clouds could form, having a warming effect instead (HBS, 2021b).

If too many condensation nuclei are introduced, an excessive number of ice crystals could form, leading to the opposite effect: the cirrus clouds would trap even more heat than before. This unintended warming effect could be deliberately used to melt sea ice in the Arctic, potentially opening up new shipping routes. However, the threshold for the amount of particles required to trigger this effect is not yet known (HBS, 2021b).

#### 6.4 Marine Cloud Brightening

Clouds consist of millions of tiny water droplets. In addition to temperature and humidity, tiny particles such as grains of sand, salt crystals or dust (so-called condensation nuclei), on which water can condense and form droplets, play a key role in their formation. The content of water droplets determines the reflective properties of clouds and therefore their albedo. In marine cloud brightening (MCB), existing stratocumulus clouds in the lower troposphere are brightened so that more solar radiation is reflected on their white surface (Possner et al., 2023; HBS, 2021c; Latham 1990). The marine atmosphere tends to be cleaner and dust-free. Artificial enrichment of the maritime atmosphere with condensation nuclei could therefore significantly increase cloud albedo, because considerably more and smaller droplets would then form, which would scatter and reflect the sunlight more strongly (Latham et al. 2012). Suitable particles that act as condensation nuclei could be deployed by ships. The salt content of the seawater would be sufficient for this, so that no additional chemicals would be necessary (although the properties of other substances are nevertheless being investigated, e.g. paraffin-like oils, Russel et. al 2013).

Since clouds are spatially irregular and have limited lifespans, the release of particles would need to occur in large quantities, be distributed over wide areas, and be repeated frequently. Because the clouds formed would dissipate after only a few hours or days, studies estimate that between 10,000 and 100,000 ships would be needed to continuously spray salt particles in order to achieve a significant effect (Claudel et al., 2024; DFG, XXXX). To lower the global average temperature by 1°C, studies calculate that 70 million tons of dry sea salt would be required per year (IPCC, 2018). Since ships are equipped with relatively short "chimneys," natural updrafts would have to be used to lift the seawater to heights of several hundred meters to two kilometres (DFG). This massive fleet of autonomous ships would require enormous amounts of ship fuel, which is currently derived from fossil fuels, thereby generating additional emissions that would further contribute to global warming and need to be offset by MCB. Thus, the development of autonomous, renewable-energy-powered specialised ships would be required first. Due to these challenges with MCB, drones are also being considered as an alternative to transport optimized synthetic salts instead of sea salt to save on both quantity and energy (Claudel et al., 2024).

One of the most important effects is the change in light intensity and temperature in the vicinity of the deployment site, which can have a negative impact on several processes in the atmosphere and the ocean. For example, the growth of phytoplankton in the ocean may decrease because of shading. In addition, the mixing of the upper ocean is increased by strong local cooling, which in turn changes the nutrient supply and has an impact on biodiversity and ecosystems. Far-reaching changes in the water



column, food webs and biogeochemical cycles are to be expected, which could also affect the ocean's ability to sequester carbon (GESAMP 2019).

The regional change in the radiation budget and water cycle has transboundary, global consequences for the atmosphere and the oceans due to the indirect and complex connections with ocean and wind circulation (Lockyer et al., 2019, Possner et al. 2023). For example, MCB has an impact on sea level rise, which could decline on one side of the Earth but be all the more drastic on the other (Haywood et al., 2023). The same applies to MCB as to SRM as a whole: Just because the global average temperature can be reduced mathematically, the temperature is not evenly distributed, and the regional effects can vary. This is a problem with MCB because although GHGs have a global and round-the-clock effect, MCB would only have a regional effect and only during the day. The resulting uncertainty in the study results is exacerbated by uncertain correlations, for example with ocean circulation (Ricke et al., 2023). Overall, the principle of MCB is based on theoretical considerations and computer modelling (Possner et al. 2023).

It is being discussed and trialled whether the small-scale use of MCBs can be useful to mitigate hurricanes locally, for example, or to protect coral reefs from excessive warming (<u>Wanser 2017</u>). MCB is already being researched for this purpose on the Great Barrier Reef in Australia (<u>Tollefson, 2021</u>). The current field experiment in Australia is taking place on a ship on which an atomiser is installed. It has many small spray heads that break the seawater into tiny particles and spray them extremely quick-ly. These specially designed spray heads are similar to those used in weather modification (see text box). For chemicals other than sea salt, appropriately adapted spray heads would be required, which represents an engineering challenge (<u>Wanser 2017</u>).

Precision is also important. If the particles are too small or too large, evaporation or rain can occur, which could dissolve the cloud and thus have the opposite effect (Feingold et al., 2024). Accordingly, the location and timing of the injection and the presence of stratocumulus clouds are also crucial (Possner et al. 2023).

#### Excursus: Weather modification

Weather modification methods, also known as cloud seeding or rain enhancement, are very similar to CCT and MCB. While CCT and MCB as SRM measures are intended to change the global climate in the long term, weather modification is only intended to have a localized and short-term effect. For example, weather modification is intended to promote rain or snowfall or prevent severe thunderstorms. For example, silver iodide, lead iodide or copper sulphide is burnt or salt water is sprayed to create small particles (Gekkieva et al., 2021). Depending on whether a (thunder) cloud or clear sky was already present, this can prevent the formation of large hailstones, stimulate the formation of raindrops or promote the formation of a new cloud. The effect is not yet completely certain, as it is difficult to judge whether the weather event would have occurred without the addition.

The environmental impact of the chemicals applied and the effect in neighbouring countries also need to be investigated. Nevertheless, weather modification is being further developed and used. China, for example, has had a centre specifically for weather modification since 2021 (Simon et al., 2023) and the United Arab Emirates has had an extensive funding programme for outdoor experiments on rain enhancement since 2015 (www.uaerep.ae; Hosari et al., 2021). In Germany and Europe, aircraft have been used for hail defence for several decades (Svabik, 1989). The World Meteorological Organization (WMO) has assembled a team of experts in the field of weather modification that has published a report on the state of development (Flossmann et al., 2019; WMO, 2018). Due to the similarities between weather modification and SRM, the question arises as to whether the research results and infrastructure could ultimately also be used for SRM (Bluemling et al., 2020).



#### 6.5 Increasing the Surface Albedo

There is a whole range of approaches that aim to increase the albedo (see section 3.2 of certain surfaces. White colours or reflective materials can be applied on land, in water, in cities, in deserts or on ice. The systematic, large-scale use of these small-scale methods would have an impact on the global climate.

#### White cities and bright fields

In urban areas, there is a prevalence of dark, warm surfaces. Most surfaces are comprised of roofs and roads. Thus, it sounds promising to colour all asphalt and roof surfaces white. The sheer amount of urban surface area should be able to offset the climate change effect of total global CO2 emissions (Akbari et al., 2008). However, it is important to note that this would not be a sustainable measure. The easily soiled surfaces would have to be repainted repeatedly. The paints used for this could pollute the soil and groundwater if they are applied directly to the road in large quantities. Whitewashing roofs is not efficient in areas where it is dark for long periods in the winter and where surfaces are often covered by snow anyway. On the other hand, it is advantageous in warm regions because the cooled buildings require less energy for air conditioning (Tzempelikos et al., 2021; Oleson et al., 2010). Overall, the white buildings cool the ambient temperature. This is why New York has already painted numerous roofs white and Los Angeles has painted some streets white in pilot projects. However, these measures are not SRM experiments that aim to change the global climate, but rather efforts to counteract the heat island effect of cities (see text box) (Frie et al., 2022).

Forestry and agricultural areas could also be not completely white, but at least lighter in colour. Various methods of soil cultivation, but especially the selection of lighter-coloured plants, are being discussed. Some varieties contain less chlorophyll, have more reflective wax layers on their leaves, or have favourable canopy growth forms. These traits can be enhanced through breeding or genetic modification (Genesio et al., 2020; Morton, 2009; Ridgewell et al., 2009).

Theoretically, the whitening approach could be applied to any surface. For example, there are ideas to cover the desert with white foil, which could destroy the entire ecosystem (<u>HBS, 2021d</u>). One company offers to distribute aluminium-coated sandbags in the desert (<u>https://lumobag.com/</u>). Deposited sandbags or foils can sink into the sand due to sandstorms and would require extensive maintenance.

#### Ship wake brightening and microbubble foam

Since the ocean is a large, dark surface with low albedo, there is the idea of covering it with white foam made of microbubbles. Machines would be required specifically to continuously produce microbubbles. The foam in the wake of large ships could also be treated with chemicals (e.g. surfactants) to make it last for weeks or months. If implemented on a large-scale, a vast portion of the world's largest interconnected ecosystem would be deprived of light. A continuous foam layer would not only block light but also reduce the oxygen supply, threatening the entire marine food web. Additionally, the surfactants



used could be toxic. The entire marine ecosystem would be endangered by such changes. The oceans play a crucial role in the Earth's carbon cycle, as they absorb and store carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. The large-scale deployment of this method could severely disrupt many of the ocean's functions, including its ability to store carbon dioxide (Robock, 2011). This method could therefore worsen climate change. Moreover, the ships and machines required for this process would produce additional greenhouse gas emissions, as emissionfree fuel sources for ships are not currently available on a large-scale. It is also unclear whether the approach would work at all, as ocean bacteria could damage the microbubble layer (Minunno et al., 2023; HBS, 2021e; Zhao et al., 2020; Ortega et al., 2018; Gabriel et al., 2017; Crook et al., 2016).

### Spreading reflective particles on the sea and on ice surfaces

In a similar approach, reflective materials, such as tiny glass beads, are to be spread on the ice and in the ocean (Johnson et al., 2022). The mass production of artificial snow using huge machines and the spread of large white plastic films or the stimulation of algal blooms (e.g. coccolithophores) are also being discussed (Farkas et al., 2023; Feldmann et al., 2019; GESAMP 2019; Field et al., 2018). Negative environmental impacts are to be expected due to the properties of the materials being deployed (GESAMP 2019). Plastic waste in the ocean is one of the most obvious problems. The materials released and their degradation products could also be toxic and accumulate in the food chain. The idea of dispersing reflective particles on the ocean surface stands in stark contrast to environmental policies aimed at reducing the input of nutrients, pollutants, and waste into the oceans. Additionally, there is a practical issue: to fully ensure the effect on albedo, the reflective surfaces would need to remain

free from contamination and biofouling. The necessary cleaning would involve additional costs and chemical inputs and would require significant technical effort. Further environmental impacts would result from the required transportation, installation, maintenance, and disposal efforts, all of which would produce additional greenhouse gas emissions. Conflicts with other uses of the oceans are also to be expected. There are also concerns regarding ethical and security aspects (Bennett et al., 2022), and initial protests by affected Indigenous populations, such as against the Arctic Ice Project (https://www.arcticiceproject.org). Research on the use of reflective particles to increase the surface albedo of the oceans is still in its infancy, and numerous uncertainties remain regarding the types of materials, their environmental impacts in different locations and at different scales, their effectiveness as climate action techniques, and the economic and social feasibility of such large-scale activities.

Some of these geoengineering approaches are not aimed at lowering the global average temperature, but rather at slowing the flow rate of glaciers or the melting rate of ice shelves and sea ice to preserve ice sheets in Greenland, the Arctic, and Antarctica. The primary goal is to slow sea level rise. (Minunno et al., 2023; Lockley et al., 2020). As the melting of the ice would only be prevented, but no new white area with an additional cooling effect would be created, these approaches are sometimes differentiated from SRM. In studies, they are also treated as a separate geoengineering category called "ice management" or "Arctic intervention". However, even if they are specifically intended for Greenland, for example, the large-scale approaches have similar effects on the climate as a global SRM deployment, interfere with the water cycle and consume enormous amounts of resources (Argüello et al., 2023; Bodansky et al., 2020).

#### Excursus: albedo enhancement and climate adaptation

Not every measure to increase surface albedo necessarily qualifies as a geoengineering measure. By definition, geoengineering involves large-scale and profound interventions in the climate system. This is because such measures are intended to influence the climate globally. SRM approaches aimed at increasing surface albedo, in themselves, initially only have a localized effect, but they would need to be applied systematically and over a large area. When scaled up, they could have a significant impact on the climate and potentially create an entirely new climate.

Adaptation, on the other hand, aims to increase the resilience of systems to the impacts of climate change, rather than fundamentally changing the climate itself. Some adaptation measures also make use of the cooling effect of white surfaces, but only to achieve a local cooling effect. The distinction between SRM and adaptation is important, as adaptation, along with reducing greenhouse gas emissions, is one of the two key pillars of climate action.

To the extent that measures aim to deeply intervene in the climate system, they do not fall under the category of climate change adaptation. However, if the measures are intended and feasible to be applied only locally, they are considered adaptation measures (for further distinction, Section 9.1).



### **SRM Research**

#### 7.1 Uncertainties of SRM models

Models are generally an important tool in climate science, as they allow experiments to be carried out in a complex global system without actually intervening in the environment. In this way, the influences of different parameters can be compared with each other and projections for future developments can be made. Different models can be used as a basis, depending on the region and the issue to be covered. There are Earth system models, which in turn include individual models for the oceans and atmosphere, economic scenarios and combinations of both (DFG; 2014). The more detailed the resolution needs to be, the more computing capacity is required. Climate models have been developed and continuously improved for decades to describe and project the ongoing climate change. Nevertheless, there are considerable uncertainties, because fundamental processes and elements of the climate system are not yet fully understood, such as the dynamics of clouds or the dynamics of aerosols (Gettelmann et al., 2016). Even if they are the most suitable tool we have for predicting climate change, it must be borne in mind that modelling is always only an approximation of reality and cannot fully capture it (Alizadeh, 2022; DFG; 2014). This becomes particularly relevant, when political decisions with serious consequences, such as the use of SRM, are to be derived from this.

Geoengineering models have been developed based on climate models. The aim is to predict whether different SRM implementations could have a cooling effect and how these affect precipitation patterns, sea levels, temperature distribution and droughts. Determining the additional influence of SRM based on interactions whose true magnitude is more or less unknown is a major modelling challenge. (Caldeira et al., 2017). Even small deviations in the assumptions, parameterizations and simplifications can produce a wide variety of results and error ranges, so that either the potential or the risks of SRM predominate (ART GS EU Council, 2023; IPCC, 2022). This includes not only parameters of the climate system, but also socio-political and economic assumptions, which also determine the plausibility of the results (IPCC, 2022). SRM deployment would have to last

one or more centuries, meaning that statements about its consequences would also have to be reliably projected over such long periods of time (Baur et al., 2023b). However, the uncertainty of scenarios grows exponentially over time and becomes a decisive factor after just a few decades (Alizadeh, 2022) The assumed timing of deployment, especially in combination with the assumptions on the course of climate change, can also significantly influence the results and limit the projected effectiveness of SRM or reverse the effect (Wieners et al., 2023; <u>Ricke et al., 2023</u>).

To better compare the results of different studies and make more reliable statements, standardised models from the coordinating Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP) have been used since 2010, based on the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP), which provides the central scenarios for the IPCC reports. Within GeoMIP, there are standards for modelling SRM interventions called, for example, "G6solar" or "G6sulfur" (Visioni et al., 2023; Kravitz et. Al, 2011). In principle, these models greatly simplify the use of SRM. With "G6solar", for example, only the parameter of the incident solar radiation is reduced. And in the other models, the injection of aerosols is also simplified and assumed to be centralized at one or a fewpoints, e.g. at the equator. The models are based on the CMIP6 scenarios SSP5\_8.5, which projects unabated climate change with very high emissions, and SSP2 4.5, which assumes moderate climate action policies. The SRM input is often mathematically adjusted so that it is sufficient to reduce global warming from SSP5\_8.5 to the level of SSP2\_4.5 (Lozán et al., 2023; Yuo et al., 2023). The future effects of the idealized SRM deployment are then compared with those of unabated climate change. However, the current state of scientific knowledge is that the SSP5\_8.5 scenario is now an unlikely worstcase scenario because it would require reversing climate action that has already been initiated (Fotso-Nguemo et al., 2024; Hausfather et al., 2020). Accordingly, almost all previous SRM studies are based on dubious assumptions. The results of the comparison of the risks of SRM and climate change depend largely on which comparison scenario is



#### Source: https://acp.copernicus.org/articles/23/15305/2023/

chosen, so that the evaluation should always be carried out with an awareness of the uncertainties (<u>Fasullo et al., 2023; Visioni et al., 2021</u>).With the revision of the scenarios in the IPCC's 7th reporting cycle up to around 2028, the assumptions behind the geoengineering models will also be updated and SSP2\_4.5 will be increasingly used. For the fast track of the CMIP7 process, an SRM simulation was selected that assumes SO2 injection (<u>Visioni et al.,</u> <u>2024</u>). While it is widely acknowledged that SO2 is actually unsuitable due to its negative side effects (Section 6.2), the modelling for both calcite and diamond dust as aerosols is not yet advanced enough.

The results of the modelling are often presented as world maps. As observational data does not exist for all regions, the available information must be interpolated to the entire world. There is less data available in the Global South in particular, while data is concentrated in industrialized countries. In the interest of transparency, the regions on the world map for which not enough data was available to calculate the values should be labelled. Regional peculiarities in particular are of enormous importance for risk assessment and are easily lost when comparing two world maps (Meyer et al., 2022; Ludwig et al., 2022). Short-term, local weather changes also have a long-term impact on society and ecosystems but are not depicted in the coarse temporal and spatial resolution of the models.

Nevertheless, it is important to model the effects of SRM deployment only in a "simulated world", as deployment in the real world is associated with serious risks (Sections 4 and 8) (DFG; 2014). However, although simulations and models generate indispensable knowledge about climate change and the fundamentals of the complex climate system, and increasingly meaningful results are obtained by comparing different simulations with each other, generalized statements that transfer the simulated effects to the real impact of SRM should be viewed with caution (Caldeira et al., 2017). There are no empirical values from the real world that could be used to validate the results of SRM. Data from actual observations are generally important building blocks of such climate system simulations (ART GS EU Council, 2023; Caldeira et al., 2017).

#### 7.2 Laboratory and Field Experiments

According to some authors, the next step in the modelling process should be supported by field experiments conducted directly in the ocean, atmosphere, or space. These experiments should be small enough to avoid environmental impacts but still help to shed light on certain aspects more effectively (UNEP, 2023; ART GS EU Council, 2023).The exact behaviour of aerosols in the stratosphere, for example, cannot be predicted accurately enough using computer simulations or analogies to volcanic eruptions alone (Jinnah et al., 2023; Caldeira et al., 2017). This is why, for example, the UK and US projects abbreviated as SPICE and SCoPEx were planned, in each of which a test balloon was to ascend. However, these field trials on SAI failed due to protests by local residents and NGOs (Jinnah et al., 2024; Baker et al., 2024). The sulphate releases by balloon by a private company from the USA over Mexican territory also caused conflicts (SEMARNAT Mexiko, 2023). Field experiments were carried out to increase surface albedo (see section 6.5) and MCB (see section 6.4).

Small-scale outdoor experiments can contribute to verifying individual atmospheric physical interactions. However, it should be emphasized that small-scale experiments are not suitable for providing sufficient knowledge about the risks of an actual SRM deployment. In order to investigate the already known risks on a regional or global scale in more detail and to be able to assess them with sufficient reliability, field activities on a larger scale, i.e. on a regional or global scale, would actually be necessary (Parson et al., 2013). Meaningful experiments would therefore have to be "global experiments" and would no longer differ from a deployment. The same risks for the environment and the affected population groups, which may already be irreversible, would exist. (DFG; 2014).

One problem with field experiments would be to clearly attribute the consequences and possible damage, e.g. from floods and droughts, to the experiment and to rule out the possibility that these were not caused by other dynamics of our complex climate system (<u>Terry et al., 2024; DFG; 2014</u>). One problem with field experiments would be to clearly attribute the consequences and possible damage, e.g. from floods and droughts, to the experiment and to rule out the possibility that these were not caused by other dynamics of our complex climate system.<sup>1</sup>

In addition to field experiments, **laboratory experiments** are also carried out. These can involve testing the chemical properties of aerosols, foam and other materials or using cloud chambers to create artificial clouds (<u>Steinke et al., 2024</u>). In contrast to field experiments, laboratory experiments tend not to have any direct environmental impact

In principle, scientific experiments should serve to increase knowledge about the mode of action and risks of SRM. This is to **be distinguished from the development of technical infrastructure**, in which, for example, spray heads and balloons as well as space installations are designed, built and finally tested (Tollefson, 2021).



1 See the protests of Hungarian farmers in connection with hail protection: https://haszon.hu/haszonagrar/innovacio/jegkar-halalos-fenyegetes.

#### 7.3 Does Research lead to Deployment?

There is a lively debate as to whether more research, and in particular field experiments, will contribute to SRM ultimately being used. Figuratively speaking, one is standing on a slippery slope and gradually sliding from research into deployment (Callies, 2019). The conclusion drawn from this is to limit research on certain methods or scales, as it could lead to a point where the deployment is theoretically prepared, and this could then result in actual implementation (Andow, 2023; Quaas et al., 2017). In addition to technical feasibility, the political acceptance of small-scale SRM experiments is also helping to reduce the hurdles to larger-scale SRM deployment (Lockyer et al., 2019). Moreover, the scientific community itself or the institutions founded for this purpose act as a lobby for further research (Lin, 2016; Jamieson, 1996).On the other hand, project initiators want the high investment costs to be worthwhile (Gardiner et al., 2010). If the risks are found to be too high during the initial trials, it might therefore not be considered necessary to announce the cancellation of all efforts, but the conditions could also be scaled down so that the experiments do not have to be abandoned (Neuber et al., 2020). In addition, funding and infrastructure for other non-SRM projects are blocked and, as this means they can achieve less knowledge and progress, it is easier for the SRM experiments already underway to receive further funding. People also get used to new situations quite quickly, so that future generations may not even question SRM experiments. All of these points result in a positive feedback loop (McKinnon, 2019). Although it is also questioned whether suitable regulation could mitigate this effect (Callies, 2019), the risk that a research project could develop its own momentum towards deployment cannot simply be brushed aside and, in view of a precautionary policy, is considered a valid counter-argument (Andow, 2023). Research on SRM also has a great deal in common with general climate and atmospheric research, albeit with different emphases. It therefore makes more sense to invest effort and resources in understanding the

climate system, as this will definitely help future generations, rather than in costly SRM experiments, the effects of which are unpredictable and potentially dangerous (Gardiner et al., 2010).

Extensive publicly funded research projects could also have an impact on markets and political processes. The normalization of SRM associated with extensive research projects may lead international investors and venture capital financial instruments to view future market opportunities for SRM approaches more favourably, thereby strengthening interest in the deployment of SRM (<u>Surprise et al.,</u> <u>2022</u>). SRM could solidify as a promising future business model (see the critical description of the attempt to commercialize SRM in (<u>CSSN 2021</u>)).Consequently, there are calls for SRM research not to be financed by public funds at all (<u>Biermann et al., 2022</u>).

### Risks of Solar Radiation Modification (SRM)

SRM is supposed to mask global warming by enhancing the earth's albedo, for example by stratospheric aerosol injection. Thus altering the whole climate system, SRM would impact most areas of life.

### Umwelt 🎲 Bundesamt

#### **Geopolitical Tensions**

Difficulties in reaching a political consensus on SRM, up to the risk of unilateral deployment, could lead to international conflicts.

#### **Mitigation Deterrence**

Relying on SRM to supposedly counteract climate change may weaken mitigation efforts, including the phaseout of fossil fuels, hindering the transition towards renewable energy.

e e e stare a state fil fighter 🔶

#### **Ecosystem Disruption**

Altered climate patterns can destroy habitats and food webs, contributing to biodiversity loss.

#### Increased inequality

An unjust distribution of negative impacts could exacerbate inequalities between and within nations, while the risk of a termination shock and technological dependency might impose burdens on future generations.

#### Threatened Marine Ecosystems

Undiminished ocean acidification could adversely impact marine biodiversity and fisheries.

#### **Food Security Threats**

Changes in precipitation and monsoon patterns could disrupt agricultural production, threatening food supply stability.

#### Water Cycle Alteration

Unpredictable changes could affect the availability and quality of freshwater and compromise water security.

# **8** s

### **SRM Harbours Many Risks**

Based on the modelling and due to the mode of action of SRM (Section 4), some risks of SRM are already clear, even if considerable uncertainties remain. Despite research, not all negative effects can be ruled out. If SRM were to be used globally, unexpected consequences would emerge (Young, 2023; Davies, 2011).

# 8.1 Risks to water availability and food security

Modelling (Section 7.1) is used to predict the influence of SRM on precipitation distribution and also on plant photosynthesis and thus on (drinking) water availability and crop yields, i.e. food security (Davies, 2011). If one were to assume that SRM could easily reverse climate change, one could conclude that all negative effects of climate change could be averted. However, contrary to some claims, SRM will not simply prevent the negative impacts of climate change on food security (Proctor et al., 2018). Even if positive effects of SRM on water availability in certain regions can be modelled compared to unmitigated climate change, the results are uncertain and do not take into account the effects of changing precipitation or local effects (Fotso-Nguemo et al., 2024). In addition to droughts and flooding on agricultural land, the change in the photosynthetic performance of arable and forest plants is a threat to the livelihoods of the people who depend on them (Xia et al., 2014; Robock, 2008). The mere decrease in temperature would of course counteract heat stress and could therefore increase crop yields, yet individual crop failures would always occur (Pongratz et al., 2012). These local effects are not modelled in detail in global computer models. On a global scale and accepting known uncertainties, it can be stated that SRM would generally lead to an increase in crop yields (Fan et al., 2021). However, this differs for individual arable crops and is made under the assumption of constant cultivation (Xia et al., 2014). For other crops, the calculation results in a massive decline of yields. Overall, there is still considerable uncertainty, meaning that no final statement can be made (Yang et al., 2016). In addition, for some communities, particularly indigenous populations or those from developing countries, even a local, short-term crop failure of individual varieties can

be life-threatening. The food security of population groups that live from fishing is also not considered in the studies. These would be massively threatened by the acidification of the ocean (Kortetmäki et al., 2023). In addition, the studies primarily focus on the ongoing fertilising effect of CO2 as the growth-increasing factor (Xia et al., 2014; Pongratz et al., 2012). However, this contradicts the argument that the CO2 concentration would have to be reduced during SRM use anyway (Section 5).

#### 8.2 Risks of international political conflicts

The effects on the global climate described above (Section 4) can make violent, cross-border and internal conflicts more likely (Global Risk Report, 2024; Sovacool et al., 2023). The changes caused by SRM could be favourable for one region, while another state could see its livelihood threatened, for example by changes in the monsoon (ART GS EU Council, 2023; Michaelowa, 2021; Schellnhuber 2011). Unpredictable climatic changes caused by SRM would create winning and losing countries (ART GS EU Council, 2023; Global Risk Report, 2022). Those who would suffer the most are the same populations already most affected by climate change, as they would be unable to adapt quickly to the changing conditions (Rickels et al., 2020; Schäfer et al., 2015). Since the capacities for potential deployment are more likely to be found in industrialized countries, neo-colonialist structures may emerge (Sovacool, 2021; Bellamy et al., 2018) and the power imbalance between industrialized and developing countries would be reinforced by SRM.

SRM as an emergency solution could be misused for militarization and securitization (<u>Neuber</u> <u>et al.,2020</u>). Even if a targeted attack may be too risky due to the lack of precision of the regional effects of SRM, it could at least be perceived or used as a military threat (<u>ART GS EU Council, 2023</u>). Additionally, the termination of an SRM deployment through military intervention and thus the riggering of the termination shock could be used as a threat (<u>Lockyer et al., 2019</u>). Especially as populists and authoritarian governments are on the rise worldwide, the military misuse of SRM cannot be ruled out (Global Risk Report, 2023).

Beyond the intentional military use of SRM, there is a significant risk for international political processes. Many states tend to not take climate change seriously and fail to invest sufficiently in sustainable GHG reduction. However, with increasing extreme weather events, pressure on such governments to adopt climate action may grow. Instead of implementing genuine climate action, they might resort to SRM, presenting it as a seemingly cheap and quick "solution" to gain public approval. The cross-border and long-term risks would not be a deterrent for nationalist and populist governments. On the contrary, there tends to be a dismissive attitude toward multilateral organizations. Due to these contexts and because an agreement of the global community on a consensual SRM deployment and its "optimal" intensity, duration and location appears unrealistic (Muraca et al., 2018), a deployment by individual states is more likely than a jointly coordinated implementation of SRM (Michaelowa, 2021; Young, 2023).

The question arises as to how countries that do not agree with the use of SRM might respond. Possible countermeasures could involve influencing the climate in the opposite direction **(counter-SRM)**, such as the targeted release of GHGs or carbon (<u>Heyen et</u> <u>al., 2019; Horton et al., 2011; Millard-Ball, 2012</u>). It seems unlikely that a government would intentionally drive climate change, which is why economic sanctions, such as those imposed today, are more obvious. However, as these do not always work, the countermeasure could be to stop the SRM deployment through military attacks - be it cyberattacks or the destruction of infrastructure (<u>Lockyer et al., 2019</u>). In the case of space installations in particular, only a few states would be able to do this.

## 8.3 Risk of mitigation deterrence and for climate adaptation

The reinterpretation of the societal task of reducing greenhouse gases and adapting to climate change as a seemingly purely technical problem obscures the need for behavioural changes and a socio-ecological transformation. The research and deployment of SRM must be designed in such a way that they do not lead to dependencies on existing structures (lock-in effect). However, considering that the resources needed for SRM are closely tied to the fossil fuel industry, this condition does not seem to be met (Neuber et al., 2020; Muraca et al., 2018; Owen, 2014). Even beyond the direct links between fossil fuels for the operation of SRM infrastructure,

SRM and the fossil fuel industry are linked. Numerous publications discuss the so-called moral hazard or mitigation deterrence effect (<u>ART GS EU Council,</u> <u>2023; Neuber et al.,2020; Schäfer et al., 2015; Hamilton, 2013; Preston, 2013; Gardiner et al., 2010).</u>

While no one can definitively predict whether relying on SRM as a techno-fix will actually lead to reduced attention to GHG mitigation and delay the transition away from fossil fuels, it is plausible that the mere focus on and research into SRM diverts political engagement, media attention, and limited financial resources that could otherwise have been invested in climate action. The counterargument that is discussed controversially suggests that the fear of the threat posed by the use of SRM could actually prompt other states to drastically reduce their GHG emissions rather than rely on SRM. However, nuanced analyses on mitigation deterrence and specific substitution effects between climate policy and SRM have been carried out (McLaren, 2016)

The transition away from fossil fuels could be hindered if the potential of **renewable energy** sources is negatively affected by SRM. The performance of photovoltaic systems could be reduced, as they operate most efficiently with certain components of direct sunlight. However, it is precisely this direct sunlight that would be reduced by an SRM approach. (Smith et al., 2017; Robock, 2008). Initial findings indicate that the influence on wind power is of little significance globally and in the long term but shows large local fluctuations (Baur et al., 2024). Renewable energies could therefore become less cost-effective and competitive with fossil fuels as a result of SRM, which would delay GHG reduction and extend the duration of SRM deployment (Baur et al., 2023a). However, these results should be regarded as provisional overall and are subject to considerable uncertainty (Kumler et al., 2025).

Individual companies offer certificates for sale via small-scale SRM activities that are intended to offset the CO2 emissions of companies. However, these supposed 'cooling certificates' cannot contribute to GHG neutrality and tend to have **a greenwashing quality** (Diamond et al., 2023).

SRM can in no way replace immediate and comprehensive **adaptation** to climate change. The climate and ecosystems react in a complex and in some cases irreversible way to the increase in CO2 concentrations in the atmosphere, which cannot be completely reversed by masking warming after the fact. Climate adaptation, on the other hand, is aimed at resilience to climate change impacts and is therefore indispensable. By delaying the implementation of adaptation measures, the research and development of SRM increases the damage caused by climate change. At the same time, SRM can reduce our adaptive capacity – the ability of populations, ecosystems and economies to adapt to the impacts of climate change and changing environmental conditions (UBA, 2021) – through the associated risks to water availability, food security and ecosystems (see sections 8.5 and 8.6).

#### 8.4 Risiks for future generations

Delaying GHG mitigation and climate adaptation would have long-term consequences for future generations. The moral question of intergenerational equity is an important aspect. This is because intergenerational inequality can be exacerbated by the fact that SRM would have to be sustained over several centuries and generations. It can be argued that successful implementation of SRM would mitigate the consequences of climate change for future generations, but it also shifts the negative long-term impacts, risks and costs of SRM deployment into the future. In particular, the threat of a sudden rise in temperature due to the cessation of SRM deployment is tantamount to blackmail, with future generations being forced to reduce greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere and to continue the transformation of society, that current generations have resisted, at all costs (Davies, 2020). Furthermore, today's reliance on an unsafe technology also restricts the room for manoeuvre and self-determination of future generations (Schäfer et al., 2015). In addition, the argument is put forward that future generations should be provided with SRM as part of the toolbox against climate change (arm the future argument). This is questionable insofar as there are sufficient options for avoiding the climate crisis that are associated with lower risks (Gardiner, et al., 2010).

# 8.5 Risk of one-sided and non-transparent funding

Most of the funding for SRM research comes from private investors and (philanthropic) foundations from the Global North (SGNUA, 2023). There are also government research programmes. Alongside "SilverLining" and individual billionaires, "Open Philanthropy" has been the largest donor to date (ART GS EU Council, 2023; Surprise et al., 2023). Bill Gates' Fund for Innovative Climate and Energy Research (FICER), which finances the research programme on solar geoengineering at Harvard University (Harvard's SGRP) (The Keith Group), as well as the Degrees Initiative (formerly the SRM Governance Initiative, SRMGI), are also worth mentioning. The latter supports researchers from the Global South with financial resources and technical support from SRM experts, mainly from the Global North (DEGREES Initiative). Possibly, entire research careers are conditioned by these funding streams and the interests of the Global South could be used to further normalize the SRM debate (Chalmin, 2024).

Many and similar institutions often work together and have close links to policy makers, scientific associations and government agencies <u>(Surprise</u> <u>et al.,2023</u>). In this context, there is concern that private actors from the Global North could actually own SRM technologies through their knowledge advantage as well as financial and technological capacities and patents, which also increases the power imbalance between industrialised and developing countries (UNEP, 2023; Robock, 2008).

#### 8.6 Risky cost calculations

Low costs are repeatedly cited as an advantage in the discussion about SRM. From this, the possibility of **unilateral deployment** by wealthy individuals or individual states is inferred. However, it is questionable whether private actors have the logistical and military capacities to maintain an SRM deployment, especially against international will. Only a few states would actually be in a position to do so (Parson et al., 2013).

Another risk is the **underestimation** of the actual costs. The costs of SRM are higher than often assumed (Aaheim et al., 2015). Relatively, compared to other geoengineering approaches, SAI in particular may be favourable, but in absolute terms the costs exceed what individual states or individuals can afford (Smith, 2020). (Smith, 2020). Whilst the annual costs may be low, the long period of time over which SRM would need to be applied should not be overlooked. In addition to the production of the required machinery and infrastructure, the costs of fuel, personnel, limited resources, etc. must also be considered. In addition to these direct operating costs, the incalculable costs of damage to the environment, biodiversity and human life or political compensation payments are particularly important, but are not sufficiently taken into account when claiming that SRM is favourable (Rickels et al., 2020; Schäfer et al., 2015; Klepper et al., 2012; Davies, 2011). Uncertainty about the social and economic consequences of environmental changes is a cost factor in itself (Gramstad et al., 2010). This can result in sums that could also be used to combat global hunger, develop medicine or promote education (Davies, 2011). There is currently no plan for monitoring the impact and effectiveness of SRM, which would be very expensive and time-consuming (Michaelowa, 2021). Standardized monitoring would also be the basis for any claims for compensation. However, there is also no system for compensation payments and setting one up is already proving difficult in the case of the consequences of climate change. In addition, it would hardly be possible to determine whether a severe weather event is still a consequence of climate change or was triggered by SRM and, if several countries use different methods, by which and when exactly. The only possibility of comparison is offered by computer models, but it is questionable whether a simulation would be recognized as a justifiable basis (Schäfer et al., 2015).

# 8.7 Risks for environmental and marine protection

Even if SRM were to be maintained at a constant level and no termination shock were to occur (Section 4), further risks would arise from the masking of global warming. As the concentration of CO2 in the atmosphere would remain the same or continue to rise and therefore more CO2 would be dissolved in the ocean water, ocean acidification would persist and sometimes worsen (Wagner, 2023; Robock, 2008). Coral reefs in particular suffer from ocean acidification. A decreasing ocean surface temperature may reduce the stress factor of coral bleaching, but ocean acidification has negative consequences for reproduction and calcification that would not be remedied by SRM. On the contrary, overcooling of tropical latitudes by SRM is predicted, which could even increase the impact of ocean acidification on corals (Kwiatkowski et al., 2015; Couce et al., 2013). SRM is expected to cause far-reaching changes in the water column, food webs and biogeochemical cycles in the oceans, which could also impair the ocean's ability to sequester carbon (GESAMP 2019).

The environmental and health risks posed by the particles and materials used vary depending on the approach, whereby different chemicals could also be used within one approach (Section 6). Measures in the stratosphere or in space could severely damage the ozone layer. The chemicals and substances used for this purpose (such as NO2 ), which are produced by the combustion of fuels or re-entry into the atmosphere, promote ozone depletion and delay the closing of the ozone hole (Roy, 2022; UBA, 2016; Tilmes et al., 2009).

SRM could lead to further loss of biodiversity (<u>IPCC</u>, <u>2018</u>). In order to determine the exact impact on the environment, detailed knowledge of the processes in the ecosystems and the climate system and the interactions between the atmosphere, biosphere and hydrosphere would be needed, but this is not available to a sufficient extent (<u>Matthews et al., 2009</u>). Similar to other large-scale interventions, the environmental damage caused by the new infrastructure required for SRM, the propulsion systems, the production of materials, and their transportation must also be taken into account (<u>Robock, 2008</u>). This could result in habitat and biodiversity loss, soil and water pollution. SRM deployment in response to the climate crisis must not counteract efforts to address the **biodiversity** and **pollution crises**.

### An International Regime for the Comprehensive Governance of SRM?

The debates surrounding SRM are often heated and polarized. It is important to remember that SRM, as a large-scale response to the climate crisis, remains a purely theoretical option at present. There is no reasonable prospect of SRM deployment, with outcomes that could be predicted with sufficient certainty, anytime soon. Therefore, this Section aims to take a sober look at the existing legal framework and regulatory options. In this Section 9, we will first examine the concept of SRM in international law, followed by a discussion of the regimes and treaties that could govern SRM as such and which could serve as key forums for future decision-making. Section 10 will then address existing regimes and regulations that already limit certain impacts of some SRM techniques.

#### The debate on SRM regulation and governance – a brief overview

The number of publications and proposals on the regulation and governance of SRM has risen sharply in recent years. In some cases, the actors, political processes and the effects of scientific assessment reports by international institutions are described. It is noted (Gupta/Möller, 2019), that there is already an informal "de facto governance" that characterizes the perception of existing options and international policy processes on SRM. Other studies focus on the future regulation of SRM. Some focus on "enabling governance", i.e. the facilitation of SRM research and deployment (e.g Buck et al. 2023; Honegger et al., 2013), while others focus on the limitation and regulation of SRM in the sense of "restrictive governance" (e.g Gupta et al., 2024). Several studies examine the suitability of existing international institutions and treaties and largely conclude that no treaty regime would be suitable per se as a central forum for the governance of SRM (e.g. Bodle/Oberthür 2014; Krüger 2020; Reynolds 2019). A large proportion conclude from this that there is a problematic fragmentation of international law and significant governance gaps (<u>Honegger et al. 2013</u>, p. 134, <u>Reynolds et</u> al. 2022). The assessment of this question is largely determined by the initial premises of the respective authors. If one assumes that an internationally regulated facilitation of SRM activities is to be promoted, the gaps in international law are regularly assessed to be particularly serious. Other authors emphasize that it may be impossible to agree and regulate the deployment of SRM and the modalities of global implementation multilaterally (Corry 2017; Hulme 2014). In this context, calls for a non-use agreement have been formulated (Biermann et al., 2022; Gupta et al., 2024) formuliert.

## 9.1 The concept of SRM and geoengineering in international law

Few international legal texts explicitly mention geoengineering or SRM. A definition of SRM under international law was provided under the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). Decision CBD X/33 defines SRM as a sub-form of geoengineering as follows: *"any technologies that deliberately reduce solar insolation"*.

However, these and the usual SRM definitions do not easily help to differentiate between SRM measures for climate adaptation (see box in section 6.5) and for weather modification (see box in section 6.4). Does the whitening of roofs count as SRM? And would the creation of clouds on particularly hot days over a limited area, for example to protect a coral reef or as part of the Olympic Games, also be categorized as SRM? To decide whether these or similar cases constitute SRM or not, the characteristics of the overarching concept of geoengineering (Section 1) must be considered. The central feature of the geoengineering concept is the objective of deliberately intervening in the climate system through large-scale measures. Roof whitening, for example, does not involve the targeted and large-scale influencing of the climate. The aim of whitening roofs is usually to improve living conditions on this limited area.<sup>2</sup> Also, a temporary measure to influence the (current) weather cannot be equated with a (long-term) change in the climate. Insofar as overlaps with weather impact and climate adaptation remain in marginal areas of the SRM concept, a normative definition and regulation of SRM is nevertheless possible. The fact that in individual cases it is not always possible to make a clear distinction in advance is typical of normative and political terms. These do not have the same degree of selectivity as definitions in natural sciences. The decisive factor here is that criteria are available that can be used to weigh up and decide on individual cases in the procedures provided for this purpose. The legislator or other decision-makers can use these criteria to determine further categorizations if necessary.

# **9.2 Biodiversity Convention and the de facto** geoengineering moratorium

Of particular importance for the control and regulation of SRM is the **decision under the** Convention on Biodiversity (CBD) from 2010, CBD X/33 ((<u>CBD</u>, <u>2010</u>); (<u>UBA</u>, 2019)). It is one of the few international legal texts that explicitly mention SRM. The decision applies the precautionary principle to SRM and specifies the criteria that must be ensured in advance regarding research and deployment. The decision stipulates that SRM may not take place as long as these criteria are not met. The decision is therefore also referred to as a **"de facto moratorium"**.



<sup>2</sup> However, a different assessment could be made if small-scale changes in surface albedo are integrated into a comprehensive incentive mechanism for so-called "climate action" and therefore need to be considered in aggregate.

# Wording of the CBD X/33 de facto moratorium

Article 8(w) calls on the international community to "ensure, in the absence of science based, global, transparent and effective control and regulatory mechanisms for geo-engineering, and in accordance with the precautionary approach and Article 14 of the Convention, that no climate-related geoengineering activities that may affect biodiversity take place until there is an adequate scientific basis on which to justify such activities and appropriate consideration of the associated risks for the environment and biodiversity and associated social, economic and cultural impacts, with the exception of small scale scientific research studies that would be conducted in a controlled setting in accordance with Article 3 of the Convention, and only if they are justified by the need to gather specific scientific data and are subject to a thorough prior assessment of the potential impacts on the environment."



In implementing the precautionary principle, the decision establishes a **general** ban on the use of SRM ("to ensure that...no geoengineering activities...take place"), which can only be lifted if certain conditions are met. The de facto geoengineering moratorium therefore does not impose an unconditional and absolute ban on SRM but formulates conditions for the implementation of SRM activities.

It is therefore only possible to deviate from the ban set out in the decision if several conditions are met. In particular, a **sufficient scientific consensus** is required on the mode of action and effects of SRM. The "associated risks to the environment and biodiversity as well as the associated social, economic and cultural impacts" must also be considered. Only if the use of SRM could be fairly assessed on this scientific basis would the use of SRM even be considered. According to the current state of knowledge, the effects of the proposed SRM techniques cannot be determined with sufficient certainty. However, some negative effects of SRM, such as changes in precipitation patterns, can already be assumed with a high degree of certainty (see sections 8.5 and 8.6).

A further condition is the existence of "scientific, global, transparent and effective **control and regulatory** mechanisms". This means that SRM may only be implemented if appropriate international mechanisms have been created to control SRM. This prohibits individual states from going it alone. The text of the decision excludes "small-scale research experiments" in a "controlled environment" from this prohibition under strict conditions. To date, there is no consensus as to whether only activities in laboratories and cloud chambers or other precautions for field activities fulfil this requirement (<u>Rabitz et al., 2022</u>, S. 142). A sector-specific development of the criteria was undertaken under the London Protocol (Section 10.2).

#### Excursus: Status of the de facto geoengineering moratorium (Dec. X/33)

The binding nature of the decision under international law must be assessed in a differentiated manner, since this decision is a matter of so-called secondary international law. This law is negotiated and adopted by state representatives based on and in accordance with the provisions of the binding treaty. The question of the binding nature of secondary law arises particularly in international environmental law, where there are no independent actors (legal subjects) and a lower degree of institutionalization exists compared to other areas of international policy (see, for example, the World Health Organization or the International Monetary Fund).

It should be noted that the decision was taken unanimously by all Parties at the 10th Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity in 2010. It assesses the interpretation and application of the binding Biodiversity Convention based on Art. 23 para. 4 CBD. An undifferentiated mere denial of the binding nature of the decision does not do justice to this. In particular, the formal status of the decision cannot be altered or invalidated by the substantive limitations in the formulation of the obligations. For example, it follows from the introductory wording ("Invites Parties and other Governments, according to national circumstances and priorities") of the decision that the individual substantive requirements are to be interpreted considering the circumstances. This does not affect the formal status of bindingness of the decision.

\* The report of the Royal Society makes a similar distinction and characterises the decision as a "normative precedent" Royal Society 2011, p. 32. On the gradations of binding force under international law, see also Brunnée 2022.

The validity of the de facto geoengineering moratorium was reconfirmed in December 2016 and in November 2024 (Decision of the Conference of the Parties  $\underline{XIII/14}$  and  $\underline{XVI/17}$ ).

Building on the CBD's existing decisions on geoengineering, there is ongoing discussion about whether the CBD would be a suitable central regulatory forum for geoengineering or SRM. One argument in favour of this is that the scope of the Biodiversity Convention is sufficiently broad to cover the impacts of the various technologies. In addition, it is the only quasi-universal forum that explicitly addresses SRM. The CBD also includes a series of obligations for cooperation and exchange in the fields of research and technology (Art. 17, 18 CBD), which could be suitable for coordinating and evaluating further research efforts on SRM (<u>Krüger 2020</u>, p. 331). However, some authors consider the CBD to have too little political weight, especially as the USA has not ratified the CBD (<u>Sugiyama/Sugiyama 2010</u>, p. 13; <u>Wirth 2013</u>, (p. 413 (433)).Considering the advantages and disadvantages, the CBD appears to be the most suitable central regulatory forum for SRM (<u>Bodle/Oberthür 2014</u>, p. 74; <u>Hubbard 2016</u>, p. 618).

# 9.3 ENMOD as a treaty for the fundamental regulation of SRM?

The 'Convention on the Prohibition of Military or Any Other Hostile Use of Environmental Modification Techniques' (ENMOD) of 1978 prohibits hostile weather modification and distinguishes it from weather modification for peaceful purposes. The convention has been signed by 58 states, including the USA. As the large-scale implementation of SRM would necessarily also result in weather modification, the applicability of the convention to SRM is frequently discussed. However, the question of the conditions under which a "hostile" deployment of SRM would occur is problematic. Some authors argue that any SRM deployment that has adverse effects such as droughts would be a violation of the ENMOD Convention (Robock 2008). Other authors argue that the use of SRM should be considered "peaceful" in the sense of this convention and therefore cannot fall under the obligations of this treaty (Parson 2014, p. 96).

As a result, the ENMOD Convention contains numerous broad legal terms ("hostile", "serious effects"), the concrete application of which to SRM is difficult (<u>Gupta</u> <u>et al., 2024</u>, p. 14; <u>Honegger et al. 2013</u>, p. 130). At the same time, the convention does not provide for any mechanisms that could help to clarify these issues. **In its current form, the ENMOD Convention can at best reaffirm a prohibition of SRM**. In contrast, the criteria of CBD Decision X/33 appear to be more detailed and nuanced. They are to be considered more suitable as a basis and starting point for any international efforts to further develop the regulation of SRM.

#### 9.4 Climate law

Whether SRM can and should be part of international climate law is the subject of much debate. The starting point for answering this question must be Article 2 (1) of the Framework Convention on Climate Change. This article defines the objective of international climate law, namely "the **stabilization of greenhouse gas concentrations** in the atmosphere". SRM does not change the concentration of greenhouse gases, but the Earth's radiation budget. SRM is therefore **not covered by the objective of international climate law**.

Nevertheless, SRM is sometimes categorized as an option for achieving the "temperature goal" set out in Article 2 of the Paris Agreement and, building on this, it is proposed as a suitable treaty regime for the international governance of SRM (Honegger et al. 2013, p. 134.). It should be noted that the introduction to Article 2 explicitly places the "temperature goal" in the context of achieving the objectives of the Framework Convention on Climate Change ("This Convention aims to achieve the objectives of the Framework Convention on Climate Change, including its objective, by improving its implementation..."). The "temperature goal" therefore is rather a target than a goal and has the function of determining whether the measures to stabilize greenhouse gas concentrations are sufficient. In the legal sense, the 1.5 degree target is therefore not an independent goal, but merely an indicator of whether the objectives and goals of international climate law are being sufficiently pursued. Under no circumstances is the setting of the 1.5 degree limit intended to cause a departure from the climate action hierarchy (Krüger 2020, p. 452; more open, however: Stoll et al. 2022, p. 432). The Paris temperature target can certainly not be used to derive and justify an obligation to use SRM (Krüger 2020, p. 455). SRM is therefore not a means of climate action.

From a functional perspective, there are also significant reasons against using the international climate action regime as the central regulatory forum for SRM. In both science and practice, it is often argued that the highly complex international climate diplomacy should not be burdened with an additional responsibility (cf. Kukonnen/Yamineva 2013, 161(165); Bodle/Oberthür 2014, p. 161.) Additionally, a weakening of efforts to reduce greenhouse gas concentrations is said to be expected, as the focus on SRM could shift political attention toward perceived alternative options (Section 8.3 on mitigation deterrence). Finally, it should be considered that the climate action regime, with its focus on climate action and climate science, would not be capable of adequately assessing potential impacts on biodiversity or other environmental aspects (non-climate issues) (Bodle/Oberthür 2014, p. 174). The international climate action regime is therefore neither legally nor functionally suitable for the governance and regulation of SRM.

# **10** Rules that limit Individual SRM Approaches

#### 10.1 Rules that limit SAI activities

Stratospheric aerosol injections would typically need to be carried out at an altitude of around 20 km, meaning that space law would not apply. Instead, regulations for the protection of the atmosphere would be relevant. Since stratospheric aerosol injections can vary significantly in individual case, only generalized statements can be made.

## International rules for the protection of the ozone layer and air pollution control

The framework convention for the protection of the ozone layer is the Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer, which has been in force since 1988 and has now been universally ratified. In Article 2 (2) of this convention, states commit to undertaking, among other things, measures to prevent human activities from endangering the ozone layer. The "Scientific Assessment of Ozone Depletion" published in 2022 summarizes the complex interaction effects between the ozone layer and numerous variants of aerosol injections (WMO 2022, p. 21 ff). According to the current state of knowledge, the implementation of aerosol injections in the variants discussed to date therefore poses a threat to the ozone layer and would run counter to the fundamental protection objective of the Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer (Krüger 2020, p. 127; Rickels 2011, p. 101); states have a duty to adequately prevent changes to the ozone layer.<sup>3</sup>

The **Montreal Protocol** for the Protection of the Ozone Layer specifies the Vienna Convention and lists individual substances that are to be gradually reduced ("phase down") or eliminated. Depending on the aerosols used, the regulations of the Montreal Protocol can therefore also limit the use of SRM. However, the aerosols most frequently discussed in connection with SAI, sulphate aerosols, have not yet been listed under the Montreal Protocol. The Geneva Convention on Long Range Transboundary Air Pollution (CLRTAP) and its protocols are intended to reduce transboundary air pollution. The convention was developed in response to the phenomenon of acid rain. It was signed and ratified as a regional convention by 51 European and North American countries. Three of the protocols (Helsinki, Oslo, Gothenburg) contain commitments to limit sulphate emissions. For stratospheric aerosol injections using SO2 this means that there is effectively no room for manoeuvre for the contracting states to release additional sulphate emissions. The CLRTAP therefore contains significant restrictions for some forms of stratospheric aerosol injections. The convention does not provide for a mechanism to weigh up any conflicting interests.

#### International aviation law

The regulations for international aviation law are laid down by the Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) based on the "Convention on the International Civil Aviation". They cannot regulate state operations, but they can regulate the activities of private project organizers and research institutions. Annex 2 of the Convention ("Rules of the Air") stipulates in Art. 3.1.4: "Nothing shall be dropped or sprayed from an aircraft in flight except under conditions prescribed by the appropriate authority and as indicated by relevant information, advice and/ or clearance from the appropriate air traffic services unit". The deliberate release (dropping) of aerosols is only permitted if expressly authorized by the relevant authorities and applicable regulations. In the development of such a regulatory framework, existing international regulations must be taken into account. This is particularly true for CBD Decision X/33. Accordingly, a general and explicit prohibition of SRM would first have to be laid down, before considering exceptions for research activities under strict conditions (see also Section 11.2).

<sup>3</sup> Insofar as authors discuss a "climate emergency" ((<u>Krüger 2020</u>, p. 135) that could limit the obligation to protect the Ozone Layer, this cannot be based on the text of the Vienna Convention. Moreover, the consideration of objectives or measures external to a given regime presupposes their legality and legitimacy within the context of the international legal order, but cannot justify the legality and legitimacy of aerosol injections intended to pursue these extraneous objectives.

## German and European law: Special permits for experiments?

Even if no conclusive legal assessment can be made in view of the large number of theoretically conceivable case constellations, it should be noted that SAI activities in particular do not **operate in a legal vacuum**, but that relevant prohibitions and possibilities for limitation already exist. In exercising their discretionary powers, authorities should not decide on (exceptional) permits for research experiments without considering the international agreements on SRM. It should be emphasized that no SRM (research) activities are currently planned in Germany. The comments are intended to contribute to a discussion taking place in the literature as to whether there is an urgent need for regulatory action regarding the creation of a legal framework for SRM experiments.

Depending on the individual case, different regulations can lead to the activity being generally prohibited and subject to a permit or authorization requirement. Air traffic law and pollution (immission) control law in particular impose restrictions on the release of aerosols or particles into the atmosphere. Air traffic law, for example, regulates the use of airspace by aircraft. As aerosols can only be released into the stratosphere with the aid of aircraft such as balloons or airplanes, it can be assumed that air traffic law applies to SAI. According to Section 13 (1) of the German Air Traffic Regulations (LuftVO), the dropping or releasing of objects or other substances from aircraft is generally prohibited. The targeted release of substances as part of an SAI activity is therefore prohibited in principle. According to Section 13 (2) of the regulation, the locally competent aviation authority may allow exceptions if there is no danger to persons or property. The wording of the paragraph ("may") shows that the authority is obliged to make a so-called discretionary decision. This means that all relevant aspects must be considered; the immediate "danger to persons or property" is therefore not the only decisive factor. In the case of micro and small scale experiments, the indirect risks posed by SRM activities as a whole must also be taken into account (see section 8 above). Next, the provisions of international law standards must also be considered.

According to the "principle of international law-friendliness" (*Völkerrechtsfreundlichlichkeit*) enshrined in the German Constitution, international law standards must be considered when interpreting the German laws and exercising discretionary powers. This obligation to take into account even applies to intergovernmental norms that are not formally binding under international law (Deutscher Bundestag WD 2018, p. 23). Decision CBD X/33 would therefore have to be considered when the competent authority decides whether to grant a derogation for research experiments. This decision under international law (see section 9.3 above) was also confirmed in the Federal Government's external climate strategy (Federal Government, 2023, p. 58) and the EU Commission's communication (EU Commission, 2023) Furthermore, the CBD decision operationalizes the precautionary principle in the context of SRM. The precautionary principle is enshrined in the Primary Treaty Law of the European Union (Art. 191 TFEU).

When interpreting the national provisions based on the criteria of the CBD X/33 decision, it can be assumed that these are opposed to the granting of an **exemption authorization**. This applies at least to the current factual and legal situation. Relevant criteria here are the legitimate scientific interest, no mere development of the technical infrastructure, a thorough prior assessment of possible environmental risks and the need to conduct the experiment in a "controlled environment". In particular, it should be borne in mind that small-scale experiments have so far no ascertainable scientific value for assessing the effects of a large-scale SRM deplyment on weather and climate (Section 7.3 and DFG; 2014).

Conducting tests with special missiles or balloons can also lead to the development of infrastructure for SAI measures and the promotion of the market maturity of these measures. However, the technical preparation and development of infrastructures should be rejected as preparation for deployment (see Federal Government, 2023, p. 58).

Furthermore, the German **Federal Immission Control Act** (BImSchG) can limit SAI activities. The targeted application of aerosols falls under the "air pollutants" defined in Section (4) BImSchG and causes immissions within the meaning of Section 3 (2) BImSchG because it acts as an air pollutant on the atmosphere by changing the natural composition of the air. According to the implementing provisions in the "TA Luft" and the "43. BImSchV", sulphur oxides are also capable of causing harmful effects on the environment. According to the 43. BImSchV, aggregate emission limits apply in particular to SO2 and particulate matter PM 2.5, even if they do not originate from installations (Section 1 (1): Point sources and diffuse sources). The reduction obligations with regard to total emission quantities that apply in accordance with Section 2 (1) of the 43. BImSchV are also binding for SAI activities.

#### 10.2 Regulations for marine geoengineering

The London Protocol (LP) to the London Convention (LC) on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter of 1972 contains regulations on marine geoengineering. The applicability of the LP depends on whether the activities involve the introduction of substances into the sea. Therefore, only those SRM activities that involve the release of "waste or other materials," such as the dispersal of reflective particles or the solidification of foam on the ocean surface through the addition of chemicals, are covered (Sections 6.4 and 6.5). The 2013 Amendment introduced the term "marine geoengineering," although the term "SRM" is not used in the LP text. The 2013 Amendment includes a prohibition on the application of the CDR method of ocean fertilization, allowing only activities that are classified as legitimate scientific research. The Amendment sets criteria to distinguish between research and (commercial) application, which is a novelty in international law. It requires proof that the project contributes to the "advancement of knowledge," uses a recognized scientific method, and has undergone peer review. Furthermore, the design and execution of the project must not be influenced by economic interests. Direct financial benefits from research projects, such as the sale of certificates, are prohibited, and such projects cannot be classified as "legitimate scientific research." The Amendment secondly also requires a structured environmental assessment to minimize negative impacts asmuch as possible. Thirdly, it outlines requirements for consultation with potentially affected states, regional organizations, and the involvement of independent international experts.

The Amendment is structured in such a way that it could be applied to other marine geoengineering techniques. However, it is problematic that only about 50 states have signed the LP, and the Amendment has not yet entered into force. Nevertheless, many states, including the USA, apply the LP regulations domestically, even without having ratified or signed the LP.

Marine geoengineering regulations also arise from the **United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea** (UNCLOS), which binds 169 states, as recently confirmed by the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea in its advisory opinion on May 21, 2024. In its opinion, accepted by all state parties as the correct interpretation of the law of the sea, the Tribunal ruled that marine geoengineering measures must not cause a transfer of burdens from one medium to another.<sup>4</sup>

In two unanimous statements from 2022 and 2023, the LP state parties noted that, in addition to some CDR techniques, Marine Cloud Brightening (MCB) and microbubbles could pose significant risks to the marine environment, and thus a general prohibition is desirable, with only "legitimate scientific research" being permitted. It remains unclear whether these activities qualify as large-scale, climate-effective SRM measures, or if their goal, for instance, is the protection of local coral reefs.

Additionally, there is ongoing discussion about the extent to which the regulatory framework of the LP could be applied to Stratospheric Aerosol Injection (SAI) activities. The LP's regulatory framework for marine geoengineering is based on two pillars: first, the prohibition of application, aligning with the concept of a non-use agreement. The second pillar is the general permissibility of field trials under strict conditions and prior control. The requirements for "legitimate scientific research" exclude the commercialisation of research results. It is doubtful whether this model for regulating field trials would be sufficient for SAI activities. Furthermore, based on current knowledge, a legitimate research interest would generally be denied, as there is no reliable data on the effects of weather dynamics and precipitation patterns. The LP concepts were originally created primarily for CDR measures and cannot easily be transferred to SAI. In particular, transferring the regulations and concepts of the London Protocol to SAI would first require a comprehensive and binding commitment to a general prohibition of SAI (also Section 11.1 on research regulation).

<sup>4</sup> ITLOS Advisory opinion No. 31, 21.05.2024, para. 231.

#### **10.3 Legal Situation in Outer Space**

The implementation of SRM measures in outer space is also being discussed (Section 6.1). International space law provides an important framework for SRM, which already forms a basis for regulating and limiting possible SRM activities in space (Baum et al., 2022, p. 6; Krüger 2020, p. 99). It is true that international space law does not contain any regulations that explicitly prohibit or regulate SRM activities. Nevertheless, some basic rules and procedural requirements are relevant for SRM activities in outer space. For example, the Outer Space Treaty contains a "common benefit clause", according to which all activities in outer space should be carried out for the benefit of all states (Art. I). From this it can be deduced that a unilateral SRM activity that is potentially harmful to other states should not be carried out (Rickels 2011, p. 143). The Earth's environment is also mentioned as a relevant protected good (Art. IX). Art. XI contains provisions on consultation obligations and requires comprehensive transparency on all activities. Compliance with these obligations must also be ensured by national laws in the case of private missions. For example, the future German Space Act will stipulate an authorization requirement for private activities (BMWK 2024).

#### **10.4 Further restricting regulations**

Other international regulations also do not directly address SRM or specific technologies as such, but rather are related to the goods to be protected and can limit individual SRM activities depending on the specific impacts they are likely to have. For example, the prohibition of significant transboundary harm, which is a recognized principle in general international law provides that activities that cause harm be avoided. Secondly, human rights conventions can also limit SRM. According to the Human Rights Council, the extent of the potential socio-economic impacts of a global SRM application is not compatible with human rights based on current knowledge (UNGA 2023, para. 46, 61) Based on current knowledge, a global SRM deployment would therefore also run counter to the realization of the Sustainable Development Goals.<sup>5</sup> Numerous regional environmental and nature conservation agreements could also be affected and violated by SRM deployment.

#### **10.5 Interim conclusion**

In conclusion, it can be stated that the discussed SRM activities **are not operating in a legal vacuum. Even today, they are subject to numerous significant restrictions** (see also <u>UNGA 2023</u>, para. 31). States, as well as national and international authorities and institutions, have several **options for regulatory intervention**. However, the existing regulations leave considerable room for interpretation. Decision CBD X/33 should be applied to fill this margin.

At present, no major regulatory gaps can be identified. However, the existing regulations do not answer the question of how SRM could be concretely implemented despite the existing restrictions. Some authors view this as a significant regulatory gap, especially when more optimistic assumptions and speculations about the potential future benefits and risks of SRM are considered. Such assumptions about SRM, however, cannot be justified based on the current state of scientific knowledge.

<sup>5</sup> More open, however, and assuming the possibility of successful SRM (Honegger et al. 2020, p. 15 ff.).

### Recommendations for the Governance and Regulation of SRM

# **11.1 Advancing an international non-use agreement**

#### An international non-use agreement must be driven forward.

To prevent unilateral national actions and limit future SRM activities, a non-use agreement must be driven forward. This agreement must further develop the content and criteria of the decision under the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD X/33 "De Facto Geoengineering Moratorium"), which must not be weakened. Such a non-use agreement has been called for by the African Ministerial Conference on Environment and the German Government declared to be open for discussions on a non-use agreement or binding moratorium (see section 2 above). To bridge conflicting positions and improve the chances of success for a non-use agreement, it should be made clear that a general prohibition is a prerequisite for precautionary regulation of SRM and that only on this basis could any future field experiments be regulated and made possible in a controlled manner (see 11.2 Research regulation).

#### A binding confirmation of the geoengineering de facto moratorium X/33 and plurilateral agreements should be promoted.

Particularly if an international consensus on the further development of the criteria is not yet possible, a binding confirmation of the CBD X/33 decision is also a goal-oriented step. A plurilateral agreement could also be a first step. This would initially be limited to a group of like-minded states that are in favour of precautionary regulation.

#### The coordination and mutual consideration of international legal institutions must be improved.

If an international non-use agreement is achieved, the international governance and regulation of SRM will continue to be characterized by many individual regimes, as is already the case. The fragmentation that already characterizes international law in many areas

has the advantage that the various risks and perspectives can be adequately taken into account, particularly in the case of SRM. Therefore, the coordination and mutual consideration of the individual treaty regimes relevant to SRM must also be improved. In particular, no specific regime should promote SRM activities or lift existing restrictions without considering the assessments and obligations of other treaty regimes.

# **11.2 Research regulation requires a ban** on use

Should national, regional or international regulations for the controlled performance of SRM experiments be considered in the future, this would require the establishment of a general prohibition on SRM. This also applies to the mere modification of existing regulations.

Enabling the control of field experiments is only possible on the basis of a comprehensive limitation of all SRM activities, including research as well as deployment. This also applies when only small-scale activities are in question. This is necessary in view of the fluid boundaries between research and deployment. Without a binding general prohibition of deployment, a continuous expansion of field experiments could easily take place and field experiments could become larger and larger and ultimately lead to large-scale application (Section 7.3). Above all, "research regulation" can only be legally justified with the help of a general prohibition on use. Taking into account the freedom of research, which is enshrined in many constitutions, such as Article 5 of the German Basic Law, a restriction of research activities is only permissible if sufficient risks to other legally protected constitutional interests are present. For the assessment of SRM activities and their effects, it is not significant whether the activity is (also) carried out for research purposes or is labelled as an application. Only the actual activity can be prohibited, not the research itself. The term "research regulation" can be misleading in this respect. Research regulation signifies that limited exceptions to the general prohibition of an activity can be provided for the purpose of research under qualified conditions.

A binding general prohibition on SRM activities should therefore be established at national and international level prior to the creation of regulations for SRM experiments. Nor should existing regulations simply be adapted in favour of SRM experiments without first establishing a fundamental and explicit ban on SRM activities.

# **11.3 Currently national regulations for SAI** field experiments are not necessary

The introduction of a statutory procedure for the comprehensive evaluation of SAI research projects and their scientific interest does not currently appear to be expedient or necessary.

According to the existing legal situation in Germany and other EU states, SAI field experiments should not be possible in principle, but an exemption license could be requested (see Section 10.1.3). A key aspect of the authorities' decision would be whether a legitimate scientific interest can be demonstrated. The exact standards and criteria according to which such a legitimate scientific interest in a SAI activity would have to be demonstrated are not specifically formulated in either German or EU law. Currently, the decision of the Convention on Biological Diversity under international law should be used (see section 10.1.3). However, the relevance of small-scale experiments for assessing the regional and global impacts of large-scale SAI activities is scientifically questionable (see Section 7.2); a legitimate scientific interest is therefore doubtful.

A legal formulation and further development of these criteria therefore appear neither necessary nor appropriate at present. There is also currently no need to install such a procedure in Germany, as no SAI experiments are planned. Compared to conducting small-scale field experiments, there are also the alternatives of conducting experiments in laboratories, e.g. in cloud chambers, or observing naturally occurring phenomena such as volcanic eruptions. Finally, the **political signalling effect** and questions of public acceptance should also be considered in the event of the creation of a European or German research framework for SRM field activities. In fact, SRM is still a purely theoretical option and will not be a viable option by any reasonable standards soon. In any case, before creating a legal framework for conducting small-scale SAI field experiments, a general ban on SAI ban be enshrined in law (Section 11.2).

## ► The criteria for permissible SAI research must be internationally harmonized and agreed upon.

Instead of defining national or regional catalogues of criteria for SAI research that could allow field experiments, such criteria should be agreed internationally. If field experiments are to be permitted in a controlled manner, the international community must therefore press ahead with further concretisation of the criteria of the Biodiversity Convention X/33 decision based on a general prohibition of SAI. For example, there should be an international agreement on what exactly is meant by a "controlled environment". Whether field experiments can fulfil this requirement at all in the case of SAI should continue to be discussed and agreed upon internationally.

#### Current developments must be monitored.

As the existing law, which limits the possible future implementation of SRM activities, is fragmented and can be assessed differently depending on the individual case, the existing law should be scrutinized more closely for regulatory gaps and coherence. This involves observing and evaluating current developments.

# **11.4 Ensuring responsible funding and governance for desk research**

# ► The funding of research into climate action instruments must not be weakened.

To not weaken efforts to stabilize greenhouse gas concentrations, public funding for SRM research must not come at the expense of funding for research on climate action instruments.

#### Public funding for SRM research must be limited in both scope and focus.

The **"slippery slope**" argument strongly supports a cautious approach to SRM research, as extensive engagement with SRM contributes to its normalisation and the perception of SRM as a viable climate policy option (Section 7.3). Nevertheless, developing independent, interdisciplinary, and critical assessment capabilities for SRM, as objectively as possible, is important. Only in this way can proposals or activities by other actors be evaluated in a well-founded and convincing manner. In balancing these considerations, a **moderate** level of public funding for desk-based research aimed at determining the risks of SRM seems appropriate. The primary objective of any SRM research must be focused on exploring the risks. Under no circumstances should the technological development of infrastructures necessary for SRM activities be advanced.

#### The balance and objectivity of research projects must be ensured and made transparent.

To avoid path dependencies and misjudgements driven by self-interest, research activities must be planned and funded in a way that incorporates a broad and interdisciplinary range of expertise, and special attention must be given to conducting a thorough examination of potential conflicts of interest. In particular, commercial self-interests must be excluded. Additionally, the sources of research funding must be disclosed by the researchers. Furthermore, when selecting researchers for an SRM project, it is important to bear in mind that an objective and sufficiently critical scientific evaluation of SRM can hardly succeed if the relevant expertise is primarily limited to the SRM research field itself. The decision-making process for selecting research projects must be documented according to the aforementioned criteria and made publicly available.

### References

Aaheim, A., Romstad, B., Wei, T., Kristjánsson, J. E., Muri, H., Niemeier, U., & Schmidt, H. (2015): An economic evaluation of solar radiation management. Science of The Total Environment, 532, 61–69, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.05.106.

American Geoscience Union (2022): AGU Climate Intervention Engangement leading the Development of an Ethical Framework, Online unter: https://www.agu.org/-/media/Files/Learn-About-AGU/AGU-Climate-Intervention-Ethical-Framework.pdf (08.102024).

Akbari, H., Menon, S., & Rosenfeld, A. (2008): Global Cooling: Effect of Urban Albedo on Global Temperature. https:// escholarship.org/uc/item/0pz748p6.

Al Hosari, T., Al Mandous, A., Wehbe, Y., Shalaby, A., Al Shamsi, N., Al Naqbi, H., Al Yazeedi, O., Al Mazroui, A., & Farrah, S. (2021): The UAE Cloud Seeding Program: A Statistical and Physical Evaluation. Atmosphere, 12(8), Article 8. https://doi. org/10.3390/atmos12081013.

Alizadeh, O. (2022): Advances and challenges in climate modeling. Climatic Change, 170(1), 18. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10584-021-03298-4.

Alley, R. B., Marotzke, J., Nordhaus, W. D., Overpeck, J. T., Peteet, D. M., Pielke, R. A., Pierrehumbert, R. T., Rhines, P. B., Stocker, T. F., Talley, L. D., & Wallace, J. M. (2003): Abrupt Climate Change. Science, 299(5615), 2005–2010. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1081056.

African Ministerial Conference on the Environment (2023): Report of the meeting of the nineteenth session of the African Ministerial Conference on the Environment. Online unter: https://wedocs. unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/43789/K2316003E-AMCEN-19-6-ADVANCE-REPORT.pdf?sequence=3.

Andow, J. (2023): Slippery Slope Arguments as Precautionary Arguments: A New Way of Understanding the Concern about Geoengineering Research. Environmental Values, 32(6), 701–717. https://doi.org/10.3197/096327123X16702350862737.

Argüello.G., Johannson, J. (2022): Ice Management Research and the Arctic Marine Environment in: Regulation of Risk. https:// brill.com/edcollchap-oa/book/9789004518681/BP000003. xml?body=fullhtml-60832.

Asimolar Conference (2010): Statement from the Conference's Scientific Organizing Committee. Online unter: https://web. whoi.edu/ocb-fert/wp-content/uploads/sites/100/2017/07/ Asilomar\_2.0\_statement\_62483.pdf.

Asimolar Conference (2010): Final report. Online unter: http:// climateresponsefund.org/images/Conference/finalfinalreport.pdf.

Bakalova, I., & Belaia, M. (2023): Stability of Efficient International Agreements on Solar Geoengineering. Environmental and Resource Economics, 86(3), 673–712. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10640-023-00807-0.

Baker, Z., Law, T., Vardy, M., & Zehr, S. (2023): Climate, Science and Society: A Primer (1st ed.): Routledge. https://doi. org/10.4324/9781003409748. Baum, C. M., Low, S., & Sovacool, B. K. (2022): Between the sun and us: Expert perceptions on the innovation, policy, and deep uncertainties of space-based solar geoengineering. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 158. Scopus. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rser.2022.112179.

Baur, S., Nauels, A., Nicholls, Z., Sanderson, B. M., & Schleussner, C.-F. (2023): The deployment length of solar radiation modification: An interplay of mitigation, net-negative emissions and climate uncertainty. Earth System Dynamics, 14(2), 367–381. https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-14-367-2023.

Baur, S., Sanderson, B. M., Séférian, R., & Terray, L. (2023): Solar Radiation Modification challenges decarbonization with renewable solar energy. EGUsphere, 1–22. https://doi. org/10.5194/egusphere-2023-2337.

Baur, S., Sanderson, B. M., Séférian, R., & Terray, L. (2024): Change in Wind Renewable Energy Potential under Stratospheric Aerosol Injections. https://hal.science/hal-04449996.

Bednarz, E. M., Butler, A. H., Visioni, D., Zhang, Y., Kravitz, B., & MacMartin, D. G. (2023): Injection strategy – a driver of atmospheric circulation and ozone response to stratospheric aerosol geoengineering. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 23(21), 13665–13684. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-23-13665-2023.

Bellamy, R., & Palmer, J. (2019): Geoengineering and geographers: Rewriting the Earth in what image? Area, 51(3), 524–531. https://doi.org/10.1111/area.12495.

Bewick, R., Lücking, C., Colombo, C., Sanchez, J.P., McInnes, C.R. (2024.): Geo-engineering Using Dust Grains in Heliotropic Elliptical Orbits. Online unter: https://strathprints.strath. ac.uk/41236/1/Bewick\_R\_et\_al\_Pure\_Geo\_engineering\_using\_ dust\_grains\_in\_heliotropic\_elliptical\_orbits\_Oct\_2011.pdf.

Bewick, R., Lücking, C., Colombo, C., Sanchez, J. P., & McInnes, C. R. (2013): Heliotropic dust rings for Earth climate engineering. Advances in Space Research, 51(7), 1132–1144. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.asr.2012.10.024.

Biermann, F., Oomen, J., Gupta, A., Ali, S. H., Conca, K., Hajer, M. A., Kashwan, P., Kotzé, L. J., Leach, M., Messner, D., Okereke, C., Persson, Å., Potočnik, J., Schlosberg, D., Scobie, M., & VanDeveer, S. D. (2022): Solar geoengineering: The case for an international non-use agreement. WIREs Climate Change, 13(3), e754. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.754.

Bingaman, D., Rice, C., Smith, W., Vogel, P. (2020): A Stratospheric Aerosol Injection Lofter Aircraft Concept: Brimstone Angel (world): AIAA SciTech Forum. https://doi. org/10.2514/6.2020-0618.

Bluemling, B., Kim, R. E., & Biermann, F. (2020): Seeding the clouds to reach the sky: Will China's weather modification practices support the legitimization of climate engineering? Ambio, 49(1), 365–373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01180-3.

Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Klimaschutz (2024): Langfriststrategie Negativemissionen zum Umgang mit unvermeidbaren Restemissionen (LNe) – Eckpunkte. Online unter: https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/Downloads/E/240226eckpunkte-negativemissionen.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=8. Bodansky, D., & Hunt, H. (2020): Arctic Climate Interventions (SSRN Scholarly Paper No. 3657284): https://papers.ssrn.com/ abstract=3657284.

Bodle, R., & Oberthür, S. (2014): Options and Proposals for the International Governance of Geoengineering.

Bolsen, T., Palm, R., & Luke, R. E. (2023): Public response to solar geoengineering: How media frames about stratospheric aerosol injection affect opinions. Climatic Change, 176(8), 112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-023-03575-4.

Brody, E., Visioni, D., Bednarz, E. M., Kravitz, B., MacMartin, D. G., Richter, J. H., & Tye, M. R. (2024): Kicking the Can Down the Road: Understanding the Effects of Delaying the Deployment of Stratospheric Aerosol Injection (No. arXiv:2402.11992): arXiv. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2402.11992.

Brovkin, V., Petoukhov, V., Claussen, M., Bauer, E., Archer, D., & Jaeger, C. (2009): Geoengineering climate by stratospheric sulfur injections: Earth system vulnerability to technological failure. Climatic Change, 92(3–4), 243–259. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-008-9490-1.

Brunnée, J. (2002): COPing with Consent: Law-Making Under Multilateral Environmental Agreements. Leiden Journal of International Law, 15(1), 1–52. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0922156502000018.

Buck, H. J., & Nicholson, S. (2023): Solar geoengineering research in the global public interest: A proposal for how to do it. One Earth, 6(12), 1652–1664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. oneear.2023.11.012.

Budyko, M. (1977): Climatic Changes, American Geophysical Union (AGU): https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118665251.fmatter.

BUND (2023): Geoengineering oder ökologischer Klimaschutz, Klima-Engineering als Technik gewordene menschliche Hybris. Online unter: https://www.bund.net/fileadmin/user\_upload\_ bund/publikationen/klimawandel/geoengenieering-oderoekologischer-klimaschutz-position-bund.pdf.

Bundesregierung. (2023): Klimaaußenpolitikstrategie. Online unter: https://www.auswaertiges-amt.de/ blob/2633110/7d086ff77b692c97eb0ea82d689d6bd9/kapstrategie-data.pdf.

Bundesregierung. (2024): Eckpunkte für ein Weltraumgesetz. Online unter: https://www.bmwk.de/Redaktion/DE/ Downloads/E/eckpunkte-der-bundesregierung-fuer-einweltraumgesetz.pdf?\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=2.

Caldeira, K., & Bala, G. (2017): Reflecting on 50 years of geoengineering research. Earth's Future, 5(1), 10–17. https://doi. org/10.1002/2016EF000454.

Callies, D. E. (2019): The Slippery Slope Argument against Geoengineering Research. Journal of Applied Philosophy, 36(4), 675–687. https://doi.org/10.1111/japp.12345.

Chalmin, A. (2024): Global Southwashing: How The Degrees Initiative is imposing its solar geoengineering agenda onto climate research in the Global South, Briefings, Geoengineering Monitor und ETC Group. Online unter: https://www. geoengineeringmonitor.org/the-degrees-initiative.

Climate Action Network (2019): SRM-Position. Online unter: https://climatenetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/CAN-SRM-position.pdf<sup>\*</sup>. Carlisle, D. P., Feetham, P. M., Wright, M. J., & Teagle, D. A. H. (2020): The public remain uninformed and wary of climate engineering. Climatic Change, 160(2), 303–322. Scopus. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02706-5.

Carr, W. A., Preston, C. J., Yung, L., Szerszynski, B., Keith, D. W., & Mercer, A. M. (2013): Public engagement on solar radiation management and why it needs to happen now. Climatic Change, 121(3), 567–577. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-013-0763-y.

Chalecki, E. L. (2018): A New Security Framework for Geoengineering.

Climate Overshoot Comission. (2023): Reducing the Risks of Climate Overshoot. Online unter: https:// www.overshootcommission.org/\_files/ugd/0c3b70\_ bab3b3c1cd394745b387a594c9a68e2b.pdf.

Claudel, C., Lockley, A., Hoffmann, F., & Xia, Y. (2024). Marinecloud brightening: An airborne concept. *Environmental Research Communications*, 6(3), 035020. https://doi.org/10.1088/2515-7620/ad2f71.

Corry, O. (2017): The international politics of geoengineering: The feasibility of Plan B for tackling climate change—Olaf Corry, 2017. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0967010617704142.

Couce, E., Irvine, P. J., Gregoire, L. J., Ridgwell, A., & Hendy, E. J. (2013): Tropical coral reef habitat in a geoengineered, high-CO2 world. Geophysical Research Letters, 40(9), 1799–1805. https:// doi.org/10.1002/grl.50340.

Council of the European Union (2023): General Secretariat of the Council, Geoengineering – Playing the sorcerer's apprentice? – Geopolitical risks of a race to control the climate, Publications Office of the European Union, 2023, https://data.europa.eu/ doi/10.2860/842606. Online unter: geoengineering-playing-thesorcerers-apprentice-ext.pdf (europa.eu)

Crook, J. A., Jackson, L. S., & Forster, P. M. (2016): Can increasing albedo of existing ship wakes reduce climate change? Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 121(4), 1549–1558. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015JD024201.

Crutzen, P. (2006): Albedo Enhancement by Stratospheric Sulfur Injections: A Contribution to Resolve a Policy Dilemma? -ProQuest. https://www.proquest.com/openview/9f0a629d28adf a02e164457e63fb7e6b/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=36297.

Cummings, C. L., Lin, S. H., & Trump, B. D. (2017): Public perceptions of climate geoengineering: A systematic review of the literature. Climate Research, 73(3), 247–264. https://doi. org/10.3354/cr01475.

Davies, G. (2020): Climate Change and Reversed Intergenerational Equity: The Problem of Costs Now, for Benefits Later. Climate Law, 10(3–4), 266–281. https://doi.org/10.1163/18786561-10030002.

Deutscher Bundestag (2018): Eckpunkte und völkerrechtliche Bedeutung des Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, wissenschaftliche Dienste. Online unter: https://www.bundestag.de/resource/blob/586216/ db5f5f55b8add66aff370e02e66ef322/WD-2-165-18-pdf.pdf.

Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Veränderung der Wolken-SPP Climate Engineering. Website-Artikel. Online unter: https:// www.spp-climate-engineering.de/index.php/Veraenderung-der-Wolken.html. Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (2012): Climate Engineering: Forschungsfragen einer gesellschaftlichen Herausforderung, Gemeinsame Stellungnahme. Online unter: https://www.sppclimate-engineering.de/index.php/stellungnahme\_climate\_ engineering\_120403cbdd-2.pdf?file=files/ce-projekt/media/ files/stellungnahme\_climate\_engineering\_120403.pdf.

Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (2014): Modellierung in der Climate Engineering Forschung - Aussagekräftig trotz Unsicherheiten. Online unter: https://www.spp-climateengineering.de/index.php/Modellierung\_in\_der\_CE\_ Forschung62cb-2.pdf?file=files/ce-projekt/media/download\_ PDFs/Modellierung\_in\_der\_CE\_Forschung.pdf.

Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (2019): Climate Engineering und unsere Klimaziele – eine überfällige Debatte. Online unter: https://www.spp-climate-engineering.de/index.php/ climateengineering\_spp1689\_brosch2fc1-2.pdf?file=files/ceprojekt/media/download\_PDFs/climateengineering\_spp1689\_ brosch.pdf.

Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (2019): Overview on modelling in the SPP 1689. Online unter: https://www.sppclimate-engineering.de/index.php/SPP1689\_MODELLING\_ overviewce2d.pdf?file=files/ce-projekt/media/download\_PDFs/ SPP1689\_MODELLING\_overview.pdf.

Deutscher Wetterdienst (2021): Thema des Tages—Die Quasi-Biennale Oszillation (QBO), Website-Artikel. Online unter: https:// www.dwd.de/DE/wetter/thema\_des\_tages/2021/9/4.html

Diamond, M.S., Wanser, K. & Boucher, O. "Cooling credits" are not a viable climate solution. Climatic Change 176, 96 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-023-03561-w.

Drdla, K., & Müller, R. (2012). Temperature thresholds for chlorine activation and ozone loss in the polar stratosphere. Annales Geophysicae, 30(7), 1055–1073. https://doi.org/10.5194/angeo-30-1055-2012.

IISD (2024): Summary of the Sixth Session of the Open-ended Committee of Permanent Representatives and the United Nations Environment Assembly: 19 February – 1 March 2024, Earth Negotiations Bulletin Vol. 16 No. 176. Online unter: https://enb. iisd.org/sites/default/files/2024-03/enb16176e.pdf

Enevoldsen, P., Baum, C. M., Low, S., & Sovacool, B. K. (2022): Examining the synergies and tradeoffs of net-zero climate protection with the Sustainable Development Goals. Science Progress, 105(4), 00368504221138443. https://doi. org/10.1177/00368504221138443

European Space Agency (2024.): ESA'S ANNUAL SPACE ENVIRONMENT REPORT. Online unter: https://www.sdo.esoc.esa. int/environment\_report/Space\_Environment\_Report\_latest.pdf

European Comission (2022): High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy. EU COMISSION, Oxford Encyclopedia of EU Law. Oxford University Press. https://doi. org/10.1093/law-oeeul/e66.013.66

European Council (2024): Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a Union certification framework for carbon removals - Letter to the Chair of the European Parliament Committee on the Environment, Public Health and Food Safety (ENVI). Online unter: https://data. consilium.europa.eu/doc/document/ST-7514-2024-INIT/en/pdf European Parliament (2023): P9\_TA(2023)0407 – UN Climate Change Conference 2023 in Dubai, United Arab Emirates (COP28) – European Parliament resolution of 21 November 2023 on the UN Climate Change Conference 2023 in Dubai, United Arab Emirates (COP28) (2023/2636(RSP)) (OJ C, C/2024/4210, 24.07.2024, ELI: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/C/2024/4210/ oj, Footnote 92. Online unter: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ doceo/document/TA-9-2023-0407\_EN.html /.

Fan, Y., Tjiputra, J., Muri, H., Lombardozzi, D., Park, C.-E., Wu, S., & Keith, D. (2021): Solar geoengineering can alleviate climate change pressures on crop yields. Nature Food, 2(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43016-021-00278-w

Farkas, J., Molid, M., Hansen, B. H., Nordam, T., Nordtug, T., Carvalho, P. A., & Throne-Holst, M. (2023): Characterization of hollow glass microspheres with potential for regional climate intervention to preserve snow and ice surfaces. Cold Regions Science and Technology, 215, 103967. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. coldregions.2023.103967

Fasullo, J. T., & Richter, J. H. (2023): Dependence of strategic solar climate intervention on background scenario and model physics. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 23(1), 163–182. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-23-163-2023

Feingold, G., Ghate, V. P., Russell, L. M., Blossey, P., Cantrell, W., Christensen, M. W., Diamond, M. S., Gettelman, A., Glassmeier, F., Gryspeerdt, E., Haywood, J., Hoffmann, F., Kaul, C. M., Lebsock, M., McComiskey, A. C., McCoy, D. T., Ming, Y., Mülmenstädt, J., Possner, A., ... Zheng, X. (2024): Physical science research needed to evaluate the viability and risks of marine cloud brightening. Science Advances, 10(12), eadi8594. https://doi.org/10.1126/ sciadv.adi8594

Feldmann, J., Levermann, A., Mengel, M. (2019): Stabilizing the West Antarctic Ice Sheet by surface mass deposition.Sci. Adv.5. DOI:10.1126/sciadv.aaw4132

Field, L., Ivanova, D., Bhattacharyya, S., Mlaker, V., Sholtz, A., Decca, R., Manzara, A., Johnson, D., Christodoulou, E., Walter, P., & Katuri, K. (2018): Increasing Arctic Sea Ice Albedo Using Localized Reversible Geoengineering. Earth's Future, 6(6), 882–901. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018EF000820

Flossmann, A. I., Manton, M., Abshaev, A., Bruintjes, R., Murakami, M., Prabhakaran, T., & Yao, Z. (2019): Review of Advances in Precipitation Enhancement Research. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, 100(8), 1465–1480. https:// doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-18-0160.1

Floyd, R. (2023): Solar Geoengineering: The View from Just War/ Securitization Theories. Journal of Global Security Studies, 8(2), ogad012. https://doi.org/10.1093/jogss/ogad012

Foken, T. (2016): Angewandte Meteorologie. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-25525-0

Fotso-Nguemo, T. C., Chouto, S., Nghonda, J. P., Diedhiou, A., Kravitz, B., Yepdo, Z. D., Djuidje, F. K., & Abiodun, B. J. (2024): Projected impact of solar radiation modification geoengineering on water deficit risk over major Central African river basins. Environmental Research Letters, 19(9), 094046. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/ad657d

Frie, E., Gilmer, S., Buraga, B., & Franceschini, K. (2022): Quantifying the Albedo of the Montreal Island and its Potential for Increase. McGill Science Undergraduate Research Journal, 17(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.26443/msurj.v17i1.175 Fröb, F., Sonntag, S., Pongratz, J., Schmidt, H., & Ilyina, T. (2020): Detectability of Artificial Ocean Alkalinization and Stratospheric Aerosol Injection in MPI-ESM. Earth's Future, 8(10): Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020EF001634

Fruh, K., & Hedahl, M. (2019): Climate Change is Unjust War: Geoengineering and the Rising Tides of War. The Southern Journal of Philosophy, 57(3), 378–401. https://doi.org/10.1111/ sjp.12338

Gabriel, C. J., Robock, A., Xia, L., Zambri, B., & Kravitz, B. (2017): The G4Foam Experiment: Global climate impacts of regional ocean albedo modification. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 17(1), 595–613. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-17-595-2017

Gardiner, S.M. (2010): Is "Arming the Future" with Geoengineering Really the Lesser Evil? Some Doubts About the Ethics of Intentionally Manipulating the Climate System (SSRN Scholarly Paper No. 1357162): https://papers.ssrn.com/ abstract=1357162

Gardiner, S. M. (2011): Some Early Ethics of Geoengineering the Climate: A Commentary on the Values of the Royal Society Report. Environmental Values.

Gardiner, S. M. (2013): Geoengineering and Moral Schizophrenia: What Is the Question? In A. L. Strauss & W. C. G. Burns (Eds.), Climate Change Geoengineering: Philosophical Perspectives, Legal Issues, and Governance Frameworks (pp. 11–38): Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/ CB09781139161824.003

Gekkieva, S. O., & Atabieva, F. A. (2021): Assessment of the influence of anti-hail protection on environmental pollution on the example of open water bodies of the republic of Moldova. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, 840(1), 012037. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/840/1/012037

Genesio, L., Bassi, R., & Miglietta, F. (2021): Plants with less chlorophyll: A global change perspective. Global Change Biology, 27(5), 959–967. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15470

Gettelman, A., & Rood, R. B. (2016): Demystifying Climate Models: A Users Guide to Earth System Models (Vol. 2): Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-48959-8

GESAMP (2019): High level review of a wide range of proposed marine geoengineering techniques. (Boyd, P.W. and Vivian, C.M.G., eds.). Rep. Stud. GESAMP No. 98, 144 p.. Online unter: http://www.gesamp.org/site/assets/files/1723/rs98e.pdf.

Gramstad, K., & Tjøtta, S. (2010): Climate Engineering: Cost benefit and beyond.Online unter: Climate engineering: cost benefit and beyond Munich Personal RePEc Archive (unimuenchen.de)

Gruber, S., Blahak, U., Haenel, F., Kottmeier, C., Leisner, T., Muskatel, H., Storelvmo, T., & Vogel, B. (2019): A Process Study on Thinning of Arctic Winter Cirrus Clouds With High-Resolution ICON-ART Simulations. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 124(11), 5860–5888. https://doi. org/10.1029/2018JD029815

Gupta, A., Biermann, F., Driel, E. van, Bernaz, N., Jayaram, D., Kim, R. E., Kotzé, L. J., Ruddigkeit, D., VanDeveer, S. D., & Wewerinke-Singh, M. (2024): Towards a Non-Use Regime on Solar Geoengineering: Lessons from International Law and Governance. Transnational Environmental Law, 13(2), 368–399. https://doi. org/10.1017/S2047102524000050 Gupta, A., & Möller, I. (2019): De facto governance: How authoritative assessments construct climate engineering as an object of governance. Environmental Politics, 28(3), 480–501. https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2018.1452373

Hamilton, C. (2013): Earthmasters: The Dawn of the Age of Climate Engineering. Yale University Press.

Hausfather, Z., & Peters, G. P. (2020): Emissions – the 'business as usual' story is misleading. Nature, 577(7792), 618–620. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-00177-3

Haywood, J. M., Jones, A., Jones, A. C., Halloran, P., & Rasch, P. J. (2023): Climate intervention using marine cloud brightening (MCB) compared with stratospheric aerosol injection (SAI) in the UKESM1 climate model. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 23(24), 15305–15324. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-23-15305-2023.

Heinrich Boell Stiftung (2018): Ein zivilgesellschaftliches Briefing zur Governance von Geoengineering Dem Geo-Sturm standhalten. Online unter: https://www.boell.de/sites/default/files/hbf\_etc\_ geogovern\_briefing\_de.pdf.

Heinrich Boell Stiftung (2018): Irrweg Geoengineering Ein zivilgesellschaftliches Briefing. Online unter: https://www.boell. de/sites/default/files/hbs\_etc\_irrweg\_geoeng\_de.pdf.

Heinrich Boell Stiftung (2021), Veränderung der Oberflächenalbedo, Analysen rund ums Thema Geoengineering. Online unter: https://www.boell.de/sites/default/files/2021-01/ GM\_Oberfl%C3%A4chenalbedo.pdf.

Heinrich Boell Stiftung (2021) Aufhellung von Meereswolken, Analysen rund ums Thema Geoengineering. Online unter: https:// www.boell.de/sites/default/files/2021-01/GM\_MCB\_de.pdf

Heinrich Boell Stiftung (2021) Ausdünnen von Zirruswolken, Analysen rund ums Thema Geoengineering. Online unter: https:// www.boell.de/sites/default/files/2021-01/GM\_Zirruswolken.pdf.

Heinrich Boell Stiftung (2021) Mikrobläschen/Meeresschaum, Analysen rund ums Thema Geoengineering. Online unter: https://www.boell.de/sites/default/files/2021-01/GM\_ Mikrobl%C3%A4schen.pdf.

Heinrich Boell Stiftung (2021) Stratospheric Aerosol Injection (SAI), Analysen rund ums Thema Geoengineering. Online unter: https://www.boell.de/sites/default/files/2021-01/GM\_SAI\_ de.pdf.

Goudie, A., Middleton, N. J. (2006): Desert dust in the global system. Springer. Online unter: https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/3-540-32355-4.

Heyen, D., Horton, J., Moreno-Cruz, J. (2019): Strategic implications of counter-geoengineering: Clash or cooperation? Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 95, 153–177, ISSN 0095-0696, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jeem.2019.03.005.

Heyward, C. (2013): Situating and Abandoning Geoengineering: A Typology of Five Responses to Dangerous Climate Change. PS: Political Science & Politics, 46(01), 23–27. https://doi. org/10.1017/S1049096512001436

Honegger, M., Michaelowa, A., & Pan, J. (2021): Potential implications of solar radiation modification for achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 26(5), 21. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11027-021-09958-1 Honegger, M., Sugathapala, K., & Michaelowa, A. (2013): Tackling Climate Change: Where Can the Generic Framework Be Located? Carbon & Climate Law Review, 7(2), 125–135. https://doi. org/10.21552/CCLR/2013/2/254

Horton, J. B. (2011): Geoengineering and the Myth of Unilateralism: Pressures and Prospects for International Cooperation. Online unter: https://law.stanford.edu/wp-content/ uploads/2018/05/horton.pdf.

Hubbard, M. (2016): Barometer Rising: The Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety as a Model For Holistic International Regulation of Ocean Fertilization Projects and Other Forms of Geoengineering. William & Mary Environmental Law and Policy Review, 40(2), 591. https://scholarship.law.wm.edu/wmelpr/vol40/iss2/9

Hulme, M. (2014): Can science fix climate change? A case against climate engineering. Polity Press. ISBN: 9780745685267.

IPCC (2021): Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 2391 pp. doi:10.1017/9781009157896.

IPCC (2018): Global Warming of 1.5°C.An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 616 pp. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/9781009157940.

IPCC (2014): Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Frequently Asked Questions – Part of the Working-Group I Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M.Tignor, S.K.Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)], Stämpfli Publikationen AG, Bern, Switzerland, 66 pp.

Irvine, P., Emanuel, K., He, J., Horowitz, L. W., Vecchi, G., & Keith, D. (2019): Halving warming with idealized solar geoengineering moderates key climate hazards. Nature Climate Change, 9(4), 295–299. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-019-0398-8.

Iseman, L. (2023): Mexico, Make Sunsets, Blog-Artikel. Online unter: https://makesunsets.com/blogs/news/mexico.

International Union on Geophysics and Geodesy (2023): Resolution 4: Weather and Climate Engineering Based on the Addition of Aerosol Particles, General Assemby Resolutions. Online unter: https://iugg.org/wp-content/ uploads/2023/09/2023\_IUGG-GA-Resolutions.pdf.

Izdebski, A., Haldon, J., & Filipkowski, P. (Eds.): (2022): Perspectives on Public Policy in Societal-Environmental Crises: What the Future Needs from History. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-94137-6.

Jacobson, M. Z., & Hoeve, J. E. T. (2012): Effects of Urban Surfaces and White Roofs on Global and Regional Climate. Journal of Climate, 25(3), 1028–1044. https://doi.org/10.1175/ JCLI-D-11-00032.1. Jamieson, D. (1996): Ethics and intentional climate change. Climatic Change, 33(3), 323–336. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00142580.

Janssens, M., de Vries, I. E., Hulshoff, S. J., & DSE 16-02. (2020): A specialised delivery system for stratospheric sulphate aerosols: Design and operation. Climatic Change, 162(1), 67–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-020-02740-3.

Jinnah, S., & Moreno-Cruz, J. (2023): Should solar geoengineering be used to address climate change? An ethics bowl-inspired approach. In Teaching Environmental Justice (pp. 103–120): Edward Elgar Publishing. https://www. elgaronline.com/edcollchap-oa/book/9781789905069/bookpart-9781789905069-17.xml.

Jinnah, S., Talati, S., Bedsworth, L., Gerrard, M., Kleeman, M., Lempert, R., Mach, K., Nurse, L., Patrick, H. O., & Sugiyama, M. (2024): Do small outdoor geoengineering experiments require governance? Science, 385(6709), 600–603. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.adn2853.

Johnson, L., Diaz, C., McNutt, L., Wallace, D., & Wilson, J. (n.d.): The NASA Solar Cruiser Solar Sail System – Ready for Heliophysics and Deep Space Mission, Präsentation. Online unter: https://ntrs.nasa.gov/api/citations/20230007241/ downloads/The%20NASA%20Solar%20Cruiser%20Solar%20 Sail%20System%20-%20ISSS%202023%20Presentation%20 -%20Les%20Johnson.pdf.

Jones, A. C., Haywood, J. M., & Jones, A. (2016): Climatic impacts of stratospheric geoengineering with sulfate, black carbon and titania injection. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 16(5), 2843–2862. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-16-2843-2016.

Jones, A., Haywood, J. M., Alterskjær, K., Boucher, O., Cole, J. N. S., Curry, C. L., Irvine, P. J., Ji, D., Kravitz, B., Egill Kristjánsson, J., Moore, J. C., Niemeier, U., Robock, A., Schmidt, H., Singh, B., Tilmes, S., Watanabe, S., & Yoon, J. (2013): The impact of abrupt suspension of solar radiation management (termination effect) in experiment G2 of the Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP): Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 118(17), 9743–9752. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgrd.50762.

Klepper, G., & Rickels, W. (2012): The Real Economics of Climate Engineering. Economics Research International, 2012, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/316564.

Kortetmäki, T., & Oksanen, M. (2023): Right to Food and Geoengineering. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 36(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10806-023-09898-7.

Kravitz, B., Caldeira, K., Boucher, O., Robock, A., Rasch, P. J., Alterskjær, K., Karam, D. B., Cole, J. N. S., Curry, C. L., Haywood, J. M., Irvine, P. J., Ji, D., Jones, A., Kristjánsson, J. E., Lunt, D. J., Moore, J. C., Niemeier, U., Schmidt, H., Schulz, M., ... Yoon, J.-H. (2013): Climate model response from the Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP): Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 118(15), 8320–8332. https://doi. org/10.1002/jgrd.50646.

Kravitz, B., Robock, A., Boucher, O., Schmidt, H., Taylor, K. E., Stenchikov, G., & Schulz, M. (2011): The Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP): Atmospheric Science Letters, 12(2), 162–167. https://doi.org/10.1002/asl.316.

Krüger, H. R. J. (2020): Geoengineering und Völkerrecht. In Ein Beitrag zur Regulierung des klimabezogenen Geoengineerings (pp. 1–509): Mohr Siebeck GmbH & amp; Co. KG. https://doi. org/10.1628/978-3-16-158989-8. KSchellSmith. (2021, January 15): Potential obstruction of climate change mitigation through ISO standard on radiative forcing management. Brown Climate Social Science Network. https:// cssn.org/potential-obstruction-of-climate-change-mitigationthrough-iso-standard-on-radiative-forcing-management/.

Kuebbeler, M., U. Lohmann, and J. Feichter (2012), Effects of stratospheric sulfate aerosol geo-engineering on cirrus clouds, Geophys. Res. Lett., 39, L23803, doi:10.1029/2012GL053797.

Kumler, A., Kravitz, B., Draxl, C., Vimmerstedt, L., Benton, B., Lundquist, J. K., Martin, M., Buck, H. J., Wang, H., Lennard, C., & Tao, L. (2025): Potential effects of climate change and solar radiation modification on renewable energy resources. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 207, 114934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2024.114934.

Kuokkanen, T., & Yamineva, Y. (2013): 'Regulating Geoengineering in International Environmental Law. Carbon & Climate Law Review, 7(3), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.21552/ CCLR/2013/3/261.

Kwiatkowski, L., Cox, P., Halloran, P. R., Mumby, P. J., & Wiltshire, A. J. (2015): Coral bleaching under unconventional scenarios of climate warming and ocean acidification. Nature Climate Change, 5(8), 777–781. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2655.

Laakso, A., Niemeier, U., Visioni, D., Tilmes, S., & Kokkola, H. (2022): Dependency of the impacts of geoengineering on the stratospheric sulfur injection strategy – Part 1: Intercomparison of modal and sectional aerosol modules. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 22(1), 93–118. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-22-93-2022.

Latham, J. (1990): Control of global warming? Nature, 347(6291), Article 6291. https://doi.org/10.1038/347339b0.

Lawrence, M. G., Schäfer, S., Muri, H., Scott, V., Oschlies, A., Vaughan, N. E., Boucher, O., Schmidt, H., Haywood, J., & Scheffran, J. (2018): Evaluating climate geoengineering proposals in the context of the Paris Agreement temperature goals. Nature Communications, 9(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05938-3.

Umweltbundesamt (2016): Geo-Engineering: Untersuchung und Bewertung von Methoden zum Geo-Engineering, die die Zusammensetzung der Atmosphäre beeinflussen, Reihe Texte 25/2016. Online unter: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/ publikationen/geo-engineering.

Lesch, H., Scorza-Lesch, C., & Theis-Bröhl, K. (2021): Den Klimawandel verstehen: Ein Sketchnote-Buch. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-62804-1.

Lin, A. C. (2015): The Missing Pieces of Geoengineering Research Governance. Minnesota Law Review, 100, 2509. https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?handle=hein.journals/ mnlr100&id=2573&div=&collection=.

Lockett, T. R., Castillo-Rogez, J., Johnson, L., Matus, J., Lightholder, J., Marinan, A., & Few, A. (2020): Near-Earth Asteroid Scout Flight Mission. IEEE Aerospace and Electronic Systems Magazine, 35(3), 20–29. https://doi.org/10.1109/ MAES.2019.2958729.

Lockley, A., Wolovick, M., Keefer, B., Gladstone, R., Zhao, L.-Y., & Moore, J. C. (2020): Glacier geoengineering to address sea-level rise: A geotechnical approach. Advances in Climate Change Research, 11(4), 401–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. accre.2020.11.008. Lockyer, A., & Symons, J. (2019): The national security implications of solar geoengineering: An Australian perspective. Australian Journal of International Affairs, 73(5), 485–503. https://doi.org/10.1080/10357718.2019.1662768.

Lou, X., Shi, Y., Sun, J., Xue, L., Hu, Z., Fang, W., & Liu, W. (2012): Cloud-resolving model for weather modification in China. Chinese Science Bulletin, 57(9), 1055–1061. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11434-011-4934-9.

Lozán, J. L., Graßl, H., Breckle, S.-W., Kasang, D., & Quante, M. (Eds.): (2023): Warnsignal Klima: Hilft Technik gegen die Erderwärmung? wissenschaftliche Fakten. Wissenschaftliche Auswertungen.

Ludwig, M., Moreno Martinez, A., Hölzel, N., Pebesma, E., & Meyer, H. (2023): Assessing and improving the transferability of current global spatial prediction models. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 32(3), 356–368. https://doi.org/10.1111/ geb.13635.

MacCracken, M. C. (2009): On the possible use of geoengineering to moderate specific climate change impacts. Environmental Research Letters, 4(4), 045107. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/4/4/045107.

MacCracken, M. C., Shin, H.-J., Caldeira, K., & Ban-Weiss, G. A. (2013): Climate response to imposed solar radiation reductions in high latitudes. Earth System Dynamics, 4(2), 301–315. https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-4-301-2013.

MacMartin, D. G., Caldeira, K., & Keith, D. W. (2014): Solar geoengineering to limit the rate of temperature change. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 372(2031), 20140134. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2014.0134.

Mahajan, A., Tingley, D., & Wagner, G. (2019): Fast, cheap, and imperfect? US public opinion about solar geoengineering. Environmental Politics, 28(3), 523–543. Scopus. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/09644016.2018.1479101.

Marchetti, C. (1977): On geoengineering and the CO2 problem. Climatic Change, 1(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00162777.

Matthews, H. D., & Turner, S. E. (2009): Of mongooses and mitigation: Ecological analogues to geoengineering. Environmental Research Letters, 4(4), 045105. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/4/4/045105.

McKinnon. (2019): Sleepwalking into lock-in? Avoiding wrongs to future people in the governance of solar radiation management research: Environmental Politics: Vol 28, No 3—Get Access. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09644016. 2018.1450344?scroll=top&needAccess=true.

Mercer, A. M., Keith, D. W., & Sharp, J. D. (2011): Public understanding of solar radiation management. Environmental Research Letters, 6(4), 044006. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/6/4/044006.

Secretaria de Medio Ambiente Y Recursos Naturales (2023): México antepone el principio precautorio y la justicia climática en la experimentación con geoingeniería solar, Comunicado conjunto. Online unter: https://conahcyt.mx/wp-content/ uploads/comunicados/Conacyt\_374.pdf.

Meyer, H., & Pebesma, E. (2022): Machine learning-based global maps of ecological variables and the challenge of assessing them. Nature Communications, 13(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-29838-9.

Michaelowa, A. (2021): Solar Radiation Modification—A "Silver Bullet" Climate Policy for Populist and Authoritarian Regimes? Global Policy, 12(S1), 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-5899.12872.

Millard-Ball. (2012): The Tuvalu Syndrome. Can Geoengineering Solve Climate's Collective Action Problem? By Adam Millard-Ball: SSRN. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_ id=20281661.

Minunno, R., Andersson, N., & Morrison, G. M. (2023): A systematic literature review considering the implementation of planetary geoengineering techniques for the mitigation of sea-level rise. Earth-Science Reviews, 241, 104431. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2023.104431.

Morton, O. (2009): Crops that cool. Nature. https://doi. org/10.1038/news.2009.33.

Müller-Hansen, F., Repke, T., Baum, C. M., Brutschin, E., Callaghan, M. W., Debnath, R., Lamb, W. F., Low, S., Lück, S., Roberts, C., Sovacool, B. K., & Minx, J. C. (2023): Attention, sentiments and emotions towards emerging climate technologies on Twitter. Global Environmental Change, 83, 102765. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2023.102765.

Muraca, B., & Neuber, F. (2018): Viable and convivial technologies: Considerations on Climate Engineering from a degrowth perspective. Journal of Cleaner Production, 197, 1810–1822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.04.159.

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (2021): Reflecting Sunlight: Recommendations for Solar Geoengineering Research and Research Governance. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi. org/10.17226/25762.

National Center of Meteorology United Arabian Emirates Rain Enhancement program (2023): 5th Cycle Solicitation UAE RESEARCH PROGRAM FOR RAIN ENHANCEMENT SCIENCE. Online unter: https://www.uaerep.ae/resources/uaerep-programsolicitation-c5-en.pdf.

Neuber, F., & Ott, K. (2020): The Buying Time Argument within the Solar Radiation Management Discourse. Applied Sciences, 10(13), 4637. https://doi.org/10.3390/app10134637.

In-Space Servicing, Assembly and Manufacturing linterageny Working Group of the National Science and Technology Council (2022): National In-Space Servicing, Assembly, and Manufacturing Implementation Plan. Online unter: https://www. whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/NATIONAL-ISAM-IMPLEMENTATION-PLAN.pdf.

Oldfield, J. D. (2013): Climate modification and climate change debates among Soviet physical geographers, 1940s-1960s. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, 4(6), 513–524. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.242.

Oleson, K. W., Bonan, G. B., & Feddema, J. (2010): Effects of white roofs on urban temperature in a global climate model. Geophysical Research Letters, 37(3): https://doi. org/10.1029/2009GL042194.

Oomen, J. (2021). Imagining Climate Engineering: Dreaming of the Designer Climate (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi. org/10.4324/9781003043553.

Oomen, J., & Meiske, M. (2021): Proactive and reactive geoengineering: Engineering the climate and the lithosphere. WIREs Climate Change, 12(6), e732. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.732.

Office of Science and Technology Policy (2023). Congressionally Mandated Research Plan and an Initial Research Governance Framework Related to Solar Radiation Modification. Office of Science and Technology Policy, Washington, DC, USA. Online unter: https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/ uploads/2023/06/Congressionally-Mandated-Report-on-Solar-Radiation-Modification.pdf.

Garciadiego Ortega, E., Evans, JR. (2018) On the energy required to maintain an ocean mirror using the reflectance of foam. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part M: Journal of Engineering for the Maritime Environment, 233(1):388-397. https://doi.org/10.1177/1475090217750442.

Owen, R. (2014): Solar Radiation Management and the Governance of Hubris. In R. M. Harrison & R. E. Hester (Eds.), Geoengineering of the Climate System (pp. 212–248): The Royal Society of Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.1039/9781782621225-00212.

Pamplany, A., Gordijn, B., & Brereton, P. (2020): The Ethics of Geoengineering: A Literature Review. Science and Engineering Ethics, 26(6), 3069–3119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-020-00258-6.

Parker, A., & Irvine, P. J. (2018): The Risk of Termination Shock From Solar Geoengineering. Earth's Future, 6(3), 456–467. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017EF000735.

Parson, E. A. (2014): Climate Engineering in Global Climate Governance: Implications for Participation and Linkage. Transnational Environmental Law, 3(1), 89–110. https://doi. org/10.1017/S2047102513000496.

Parson, E. A., & Ernst, L. N. (2013): International Governance of Climate Engineering. Theoretical Inquiries in Law, 14(1), 307–338. https://doi.org/10.1515/til-2013-015.

Planetary Sunshade Foundation (2023): STATE OF SPACE-BASED SOLAR RADIATION MANAGEMENT. Online unter: https://static1. squarespace.com/static/60d495bac7a14f7e7507d20b/t/640e2f 02e1eea35daa618c40/1678651140758/PSF+-+State+of+Spacebased+solar+radiation+management.pdf.

Pongratz, J., Lobell, D. B., Cao, L., & Caldeira, K. (2012): Crop yields in a geoengineered climate. Nature Climate Change, 2(2), 101–105. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1373.

Possner. (2023): Impfen von Wolken zur Erhöhung der Reflektivität – Konzepte, Potenziale und Risiken | ZFDM Repository. https://www.fdr.uni-hamburg.de/record/12858.

Preston, C. J. (2013): Ethics and geoengineering: Reviewing the moral issues raised by solar radiation management and carbon dioxide removal. WIREs Climate Change, 4(1), 23–37. https://doi. org/10.1002/wcc.198.

Proctor, J., Hsiang, S., Burney, J., Burke, M., & Schlenker, W. (2018): Estimating global agricultural effects of geoengineering using volcanic eruptions. Nature, 560(7719), Article 7719. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0417-3.

Quaas, M. F., Quaas, J., Rickels, W., & Boucher, O. (2017): Are there reasons against open-ended research into solar radiation management? A model of intergenerational decisionmaking under uncertainty. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 84, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jeem.2017.02.002. Rabitz, F., Reynolds, J. L., & Tsioumani, E. (2022): Emerging Technologies in Biodiversity Governance: Gaps and Opportunities for Transformative Governance. In I. J. Visseren-Hamakers & M. T. J. Kok (Eds.), Transforming Biodiversity Governance (pp. 137–154): Cambridge University Press. https://doi. org/10.1017/9781108856348.

Rahmstorf, S. (2019): Rahmstorf, Stefan / Schellnhuber, Hans Joachim | Der Klimawandel. ISBN: 978-3-406-74376-4.

Raimi, K. T. (2021): Public perceptions of geoengineering. Current Opinion in Psychology, 42, 66–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. copsyc.2021.03.012.

Reynolds, J., Ghosh, A., Harihar, N., Jain, P. (2022). Solar Radiation Modification: Governance gaps and challenges. Carnegie Climate Governance Initiative (C2G), March, New York, NY: www.c2g2.net.

Reynolds, J. L. (2019): The Governance of Solar Geoengineering. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781316676790.

Ricke, K., Wan, J. S., Chen, C.-C.-J., Tilmes, S., Luongo, M. T., & Richter, J. H. (2023): Unexpected failure of regional marine cloud brightening in a warmer world. Research Square. Scopus. https:// doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-3250111/v1.

Rickels, W.; Klepper, G.; Dovern, J.; Betz, G.; Brachatzek, N.; Cacean, S.; Güssow, K.; Heintzenberg J.; Hiller, S.; Hoose, C.; Leisner, T.; Oschlies, A.; Platt, U.; Proelß, A.; Renn, O.; Schäfer, S.; Zürn M. (2011): Gezielte Eingriffe in das Klima? Eine Bestandsaufnahme der Debatte zu Climate Engineering. Sondierungsstudie für das Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung. Online unter: https://www.ifw-kiel.de/fileadmin/ Dateiverwaltung/IfW-Publications/fis-import/b7259d3b-e9e8-4887-ae1a-17425bed8f33-CE\_gesamtstudie.pdf.

Rickels, W., Quaas, M. F., Ricke, K., Quaas, J., Moreno-Cruz, J., & Smulders, S. (2020): Who turns the global thermostat and by how much? Energy Economics, 91, 104852. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. eneco.2020.104852.

Ridgwell, A., Singarayer, J. S., Hetherington, A. M., & Valdes, P. J. (2009): Tackling Regional Climate Change By Leaf Albedo Biogeoengineering. Current Biology, 19(2), 146–150. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.12.025.

Robock, A. (2008): 20 Reasons Why Geoengineering May Be a Bad Idea. https://doi.org/10.2968/064002006.

Roy, K. (2022): The solar shield concept: Current status and future possibilities. Acta Astronautica, 197, 368–374. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actaastro.2022.02.022.

Royal Society (2011): Solar Radiation Management: The Governance of Research. ISBN: 978-0-85403-933-3.

Schäfer, S.; Lawrence, M.; Stelzer, H.; Born, W.; Low, S.; Aaheim, A.; Adriázola, P.; Betz, G.; Boucher, O.; Carius, A.; Devine-Right, P.; Gullberg, A. T.; Haszeldine, S.; Haywood, J.; Houghton, K.; Ibarrola, R.; Irvine, P.; Kristjansson, J.-E.; Lenton, T.; Link, J. S. A.; Maas, A.; Meyer, L.; Muri, H.; Oschlies, A.; Proelß, A.; Rayner, T.; Rickels, W.; Ruthner, L.; Scheffran, J.; Schmidt, H.; Schulz, M.; Scott, V.; Shackley, S.; Tänzler, D.; Watson, M.; Vaughan, N. (2015): The European Transdisciplinary Assessment of Climate Engineering (EuTRACE): Removing Greenhouse Gases from the Atmosphere and Reflecting Sunlight away from Earth. Funded by the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme under Grant Agreement 306993. Schellnhuber, H. J. (2011): Geoengineering: The good, the MAD, and the sensible. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(51), 20277–20278. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1115966108.

Schneider, L. (2019): Fixing the Climate? How Geoengineering Threatens to Undermine the SDGs and Climate Justice. Development (Basingstoke), 62(1–4), 29–36. Scopus. https://doi. org/10.1057/s41301-019-00211-6.

Schweiz (2019): Geoengineering and its governanc, Resolution for consideration at the 4th United Nations Environment Assembly. Online unter: https://geoengineering.environment.harvard.edu/files/sgrp/files/draft\_unea\_resolution.pdf.

Scott, L., Leger, D., Borncamp, D., Bryson, S., Corwin, P. E., Sissman, M. C., & Centers, R. (2023): Practical Space Resource Utilization at the Hundred Megatonne Scale: Enabling a Planetary Sunshade to Reverse Global Warming. 408–422. https://doi. org/10.1061/9780784484470.038.

Shepherd, J.G., Working Group on Geoengineering the Climate (2009) Geoengineering the climate: science, governance and uncertainty (RS Policy document, 10/29) London, GB. Royal Society 98pp. ISBN: 978-0-85403-773-5.

Simon, M., McDonald, J., & Brent, K. (2023): Transboundary Implications of China's Weather Modification Programme. Transnational Environmental Law, 12(3), 594–622. https://doi. org/10.1017/S2047102523000146.

Smith, C. J., Crook, J. A., Crook, R., Jackson, L. S., Osprey, S. M., & Forster, P. M. (2017): Impacts of Stratospheric Sulfate Geoengineering on Global Solar Photovoltaic and Concentrating Solar Power Resource. Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology, 56(5), 1483–1497. https://doi.org/10.1175/ JAMC-D-16-0298.1.

Smith, J. P., Dykema, J. A., & Keith, D. W. (2018): Production of Sulfates Onboard an Aircraft: Implications for the Cost and Feasibility of Stratospheric Solar Geoengineering. Earth and Space Science, 5(4), 150–162. https://doi. org/10.1002/2018EA000370.

Smith, W. (2020): The cost of stratospheric aerosol injection through 2100. Environmental Research Letters, 15(11), 114004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aba7e7.

Smith, W. (2024): An assessment of the infrastructural and temporal barriers constraining a near-term implementation of a global stratospheric aerosol injection program. Environmental Research Communications, 6(6), 061007. https://doi. org/10.1088/2515-7620/ad4f5c.

Smith, W., & Wagner, G. (2018): Stratospheric aerosol injection tactics and costs in the first 15 years of deployment. Environmental Research Letters, 13(12), 124001. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/aae98d.

Sovacool, B. K. (2021): Reckless or righteous? Reviewing the sociotechnical benefits and risks of climate change geoengineering, Energy Strategy Reviews, Volume 35, 100656, ISSN 2211-467X, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2021.100656.

Sovacool, B. K., Baum, C., & Low, S. (2023): The next climate war? Statecraft, security, and weaponization in the geopolitics of a low-carbon future. Energy Strategy Reviews, 45, 101031. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2022.101031. Steinke, I., Schorr, T., & Leisner, T. (2024): Using cloud chamber experiments and numerical simulations to investigate the complexities of cirrus cloud thinning effectiveness (Nos. EGU24-9732): EGU24. Copernicus Meetings. https://doi.org/10.5194/ egusphere-egu24-9732.

Stoll, P., Krüger, H. (2022): Klimawandel, in Proelß, Alexander (Hrsg.), Internationales Umweltrecht 2. Auflage, S. 431.

Storelvmo T., Kristjansson J.E., Muri H., Pfeffer M., Barahona D., Nenes A. (2013): Cirrus cloud seeding has potential to cool climate, Geophysical Research Letters, 40 (1), pp. 178 - 182, DOI: 10.1029/2012GL054201

Sugiyama, M., & Sugiyama, T. (n.d.): Interpretation of CBD COP10 decision on geoengineering. Online unter: https://www. researchgate.net/publication/266216766\_Interpretation\_of\_ CBD\_COP10\_decision\_on\_geoengineering.

Surprise, K., & Sapinski, J. (2023). Whose climate intervention? Solar geoengineering, fractions of capital, and hegemonic strategy. Capital & Class, 47(4), 539-564. https://doi. org/10.1177/03098168221114386.

Sütterlin, B., & Siegrist, M. (2017): Public perception of solar radiation management: The impact of information and evoked affect. Journal of Risk Research, 20(10), 1292–1307. https://doi. org/10.1080/13669877.2016.1153501.

Svabik, O. (1989): Review of meteorological aspects on hail defense activities in Austria. Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 40(4), 247–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00865975.

Szapudi. (2023): Solar radiation management with a tethered sun shield. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2307434120.

Terry, J. P., Al Ruheili, A., Almarzooqi, M. A., Almheiri, R. Y., & Alshehhi, A. K. (2023): The rain deluge and flash floods of summer 2022 in the United Arab Emirates: Causes, analysis and perspectives on flood-risk reduction. Journal of Arid Environments, 215, 105013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaridenv.2023.105013.

The Alliance for Just Deliberation on Solar Geoengineering (2023): A Justice-Based Analysis of Solar Geoengineering & Capacity Building. Online unter: https://sgdeliberation.org/wp-content/ uploads/2023/04/DSG-Whitepaper\_Justice.pdf.

Tilmes, S., Fasullo, J., Lamarque, J.-F., Marsh, D. R., Mills, M., Alterskjær, K., Muri, H., Kristjánsson, J. E., Boucher, O., Schulz, M., Cole, J. N. S., Curry, C. L., Jones, A., Haywood, J., Irvine, P. J., Ji, D., Moore, J. C., Karam, D. B., Kravitz, B., ... Watanabe, S. (2013): The hydrological impact of geoengineering in the Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP): Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 118(19), 11,036-11,058. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgrd.50868.

Tilmes, S., Garcia, R. R., Kinnison, D. E., Gettelman, A., & Rasch, P. J. (2009): Impact of geoengineered aerosols on the troposphere and stratosphere. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 114(D12): https://doi.org/10.1029/2008JD011420.

Tollefson, J. (2021): Can artificially altered clouds save the Great Barrier Reef? Nature, 596(7873), 476–478. https://doi. org/10.1038/d41586-021-02290-3.

Trisos, C. H., Amatulli, G., Gurevitch, J., Robock, A., Xia, L., & Zambri, B. (2018): Potentially dangerous consequences for biodiversity of solar geoengineering implementation and termination. Nature Ecology & Evolution, 2(3), Article 3. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0431-0. Tuana, N. (2018): The ethical dimensions of geoengineering, Solar radiation management through sulphate particle injection in Geoengineering our Climate? Ethics, Politics, and Governance. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203485262.

Tully, C., Neubauer, D., Omanovic, N., & Lohmann, U. (2022): Cirrus cloud thinning using a more physically based ice microphysics scheme in the ECHAM-HAM general circulation model. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 22(17), 11455– 11484. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-22-11455-2022.

Tzempelikos, A., & Lee, S. (2021): Cool Roofs in the US: The Impact of Roof Reflectivity, Insulation and Attachment Method on Annual Energy Cost. Energies, 14(22), Article 22. https://doi. org/10.3390/en14227656.

Umweltbundesamt (2011): Geo-Engineering—Wirksamer Klimaschutz oder Größenwahn? Online unter: https://www. umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/geo-engineeringwirksamer-klimaschutz-groessenwahn.

Umweltbundesamt (2019): Fact Sheet: Das De Facto-Moratorium für Geoengineering unter der Biodiversitätskonvention. Online unter: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/ default/files/medien/2378/dokumente/factsheet\_cbd\_ moratorium\_12\_02\_2019.pdf.

Umweltbundesamt (2023): SRM Governance Workshop Report. Online unter: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/ files/medien/3521/dokumente/governance\_report\_deutsche\_ ubersetzung.pdf

Umweltbundesamt (2024): Solar Radiation Modification (SRM): Intractable Governance and Uncertain Science, discussion paper. Online unter: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/publikationen/ solar-radiation-modification-srm-intractable

Ünal, E. I. (2021): Public participation in science and technology:a proposal for global deliberation on stratospheric aerosol injection (SAI) [Thesis]. Online unter: https://risc01.sabanciuniv.edu/record=b2578914\_(Table%20of%20contents).

United Nation Environmental Assemby (2024): Proposed clustering of draft resolutions and decisions I Preparatory process towards the OECPR-6 and UNEA-6 I version 1. Online unter: https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/ handle/20.500.11822/44379/Proposed-clustering-for-draftresolutions-and-decisions.pdf.

United Nations Environment Programme (2023). One Atmosphere: An independent expert review on Solar Radiation Modification research and deployment. Kenya, Nairobi. Online unter: https:// wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/41903/one\_ atmosphere.pdf?sequence=3&isAllowed=y.

United Nations General Assemby Himan Rights Council (2023): Impact of new technologies intended for climate protection on the enjoyment of human rights Report of the Human Rights Council Advisory Committee. Online unter: https://documents.un.org/ doc/undoc/gen/g23/141/86/pdf/g2314186.pdf

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (2016): Paris Agreement. Online unter: https://unfccc.int/sites/default/ files/resource/parisagreement\_publication.pdf.

Vaughan, N., Fuss, S., Buck, H., Schenuit, F., Pongratz, J., Schulte, I., Lamb, W. F., Probst, B., Edwards, M., Nemet, G. F., Cox, E., Smith, S., Injy Johnstone, Geden, O., Burke, J., Gidden, M., Roe, S., Müller-Hansen, F., & Minx, J. (2024): The State of Carbon Dioxide Removal—2nd Edition. https://doi.org/10.17605/OSF.IO/ F85QJ. Visioni, D., Kravitz, B., Robock, A., Tilmes, S., Haywood, J., Boucher, O., Lawrence, M., Irvine, P., Niemeier, U., Xia, L., Chiodo, G., Lennard, C., Watanabe, S., Moore, J. C., & Muri, H. (2023): Opinion: The scientific and community-building roles of the Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP) – past, present, and future. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 23(9), 5149–5176. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-23-5149-2023.

Visioni, D., MacMartin, D. G., Kravitz, B., Boucher, O., Jones, A., Lurton, T., Martine, M., Mills, M. J., Nabat, P., Niemeier, U., Séférian, R., & Tilmes, S. (2021): Identifying the sources of uncertainty in climate model simulations of solar radiation modification with the G6sulfur and G6solar Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP) simulations. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 21(13), 10039–10063. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-21-10039-2021.

Visioni, D., Robock, A., Haywood, J., Henry, M., Tilmes, S., MacMartin, D. G., Kravitz, B., Doherty, S. J., Moore, J., Lennard, C., Watanabe, S., Muri, H., Niemeier, U., Boucher, O., Syed, A., Egbebiyi, T. S., Séférian, R., & Quaglia, I. (2024): G6-1.5K-SAI: A new Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP) experiment integrating recent advances in solar radiation modification studies. Geoscientific Model Development, 17(7), 2583–2596. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-17-2583-2024.

Visschers, V. H. M., Shi, J., Siegrist, M., & Arvai, J. (2017): Beliefs and values explain international differences in perception of solar radiation management: Insights from a cross-country survey. Climatic Change, 142(3–4), 531–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10584-017-1970-8.

Vukajlovic, J., Wang, J., Forbes, I., & Šiller, L. (2021): Diamonddoped silica aerogel for solar geoengineering. Diamond and Related Materials, 117, 108474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. diamond.2021.108474.

Waever, O. (1995): Securitization and Desecurization, On Security, Chapter 3. Online unter: https://www. libraryofsocialscience.com/assets/pdf/Waever-Securitization. pdf.

Wagner, G.(2023): Geoengineering: The Gamble, oekom Verlag, ISBN: 978-3-96238-416-6 https://gwagner.com/books/ geoengineering-the-gamble/.

Wan, J. S., Chen, C.-C. J., Tilmes, S., Luongo, M. T., Richter, J. H., & Ricke, K. (2024): Diminished efficacy of regional marine cloud brightening in a warmer world. Nature Climate Change, 14(8), 808–814. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-024-02046-7.

Wanser, K. (2017). Solar Geoengineering to Reduce Warming in the Earth System: The Imperative for Research. Written testimony for the US House Science, Space, and Technology Committee Hearing on Geoengineering. Online unter: https://climateviewer. com/downloads/Kelly-Wanser-Testimony-geoengineeringinnovation-research-technology-2017.pdf.

Wieners, C. E., Hofbauer, B. P., De Vries, I. E., Honegger, M., Visioni, D., Russchenberg, H. W. J., & Felgenhauer, T. (2023): Solar radiation modification is risky, but so is rejecting it: A call for balanced research. Oxford Open Climate Change, 3(1), kgad002. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfclm/kgad002.

Wieners, C., Pflüger, D., Kampenhout, L. van, Wijngaard, R., & Dijkstra, H. (2024): Imperfect emergency brake: Can delayed Solar Radiation Modification revert AMOC and SPG weakening? (Nos. EGU24-13381): EGU24. Copernicus Meetings. https://doi.org/10.5194/egusphere-egu24-13381. Wirth, D. A. (2013): Engineering the Climate: Geoengineering as a Challenge to International Governance (SSRN Scholarly Paper No. 2451223): https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2451223.

World Commission on the Ethics of Scientific Knowledge and Technology (2023): Report COMEST on the ethics of climate engineering—UNESCO Digital Library. https://unesdoc.unesco. org/ark:/48223/pf0000386677?mc\_cid=ee096c1e69.

World Economic Forum (2022): The Global Risk Report 2022. Online unter: https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_The\_Global\_ Risks\_Report\_2022.pdf

World Economic Forum (2023): The Global Risk Report 2023. Online unter:. https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_Global\_ Risks\_Report\_2023.pdf

World Economic Forum (2024): The Global Risk Report 2024. Online unter:. https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF\_The\_ Global\_Risks\_Report\_2024.pdf

World Meteorological Organization (2022): Executive Summary. Scientific Assessment of Ozone Depletion: 2022, GAW Report No. 278, 56 pp.; WMO: Geneva, Online unter: https://ozone.unep. org/system/files/documents/Scientific-Assessment-of-Ozone-Depletion-2022-Executive-Summary.pdf

World Meteorological Organization (2019): Peer Review Report on Global Precipitation Enhancement Activities. Online unter: https://filecloud.wmo.int/share/s/\_ujeyRLhRxGYsN05nO6X\_Q

Xia, L., Robock, A., Cole, J., Curry, C. L., Ji, D., Jones, A., Kravitz, B., Moore, J. C., Muri, H., Niemeier, U., Singh, B., Tilmes, S., Watanabe, S., & Yoon, J.-H. (2014): Solar radiation management impacts on agriculture in China: A case study in the Geoengineering Model Intercomparison Project (GeoMIP): Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 119(14), 8695–8711. https://doi.org/10.1002/2013JD020630.

Yang, H., Dobbie, S., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Feng, K., Challinor, A. J., Chen, B., Gao, Y., Lee, L., Yin, Y., Sun, L., Watson, J., Koehler, A.-K., Fan, T., & Ghosh, S. (2016): Potential negative consequences of geoengineering on crop production: A study of Indian groundnut. Geophysical Research Letters, 43(22), 11,786-11,795. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016GL071209.

Young, D. N. (2023): Considering stratospheric aerosol injections beyond an environmental frame: The intelligible 'emergency' techno-fix and preemptive security. European Journal of International Security, 8(2), 262–280. https://doi.org/10.1017/ eis.2023.4.

Yue, C., Jevrejeva, S., Qu, Y., Zhao, L., & Moore, J. C. (2023): Thermosteric and dynamic sea level under solar geoengineering. Npj Climate and Atmospheric Science, 6(1), Article 1. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41612-023-00466-4.

Zhao, M., Cao, L., Duan, L., Bala, G., & Caldeira, K. (2021): Climate More Responsive to Marine Cloud Brightening Than Ocean Albedo Modification: A Model Study. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 126(3), e2020JD033256. https://doi. org/10.1029/2020JD033256.

McLaren, D. (2016), Mitigationdeterrence and the "moral hazard" ofsolar radiation management, Earth'sFuture, 4, 596–602, doi:10.1002/2016EF000445.

### List of international treaties

Short title	Official Title	Source
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity, 5 June 1992, entered into force on 29 December 1993	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 1760, p. 79
ENMOD Konvention	Convention on the Prohibition of Military Use of Environmental Modification Techniques, 10 December 1976, entered into force on 5 October 1978	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 1108, p. 151
Geneva Clean Air Convention/CLRTAP	Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution, 13 November 1979, entered into force on 16 March 1983	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 1302, p. 217.
Gothenburg Protocol	Protocol to the 1979 Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution to Abate Acidifica- tion, Eutrophication and Ground-level Ozone, 30 November1999, entered into force on 17 May 2005	Document of the Economic and Social Council EB.AIR/1999/1
Helsinki Protocol	Protocol to the 1979 Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air pollution on the Reduction of Sulphur Emissions or their Transboundary Flux- es by at least 30 per cent, 14 June 1985, entered into force on 2 September 1987	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 1480, p. 215
LC/ London Convention	Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollu- tion by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, 29 December 1972, in force on 30 August 1975	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 1046, p. 120
LP/ London Protocol	Protocol to the Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter, 07 November 1996, entered into force on 24 March 2006	36 ILM (1997)
Outer Space Treaty	Treaty on Principles Governing the Activities of States in the Exploration and Use of Outer Space, Including the Moon and Other Celestial Bodies, 19 December 1966, entered into force on 10 October 1967	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 610, p. 205
Paris Agreement on Climate Change	Paris Agreement to the United Nations Frame- work Convention on Climate Change	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 3156, p. 79
UNFCCC/Framework Conven- tion on Climate Change	United Nations Framework Convention on Cli- mate Change, 9 May 1992, entered into force 21 March 1994	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 1771, p. 107
Vienna Convention	Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer, 22 March 1985, entered into force 22 September 1988	United Nations Treaty Series, vol. 1513, p. 293



► Download our brochures Kurzlink: bit.ly/2dowYYI